M12 BSc. Thesis: Exploring the Impact of Wearable Devices on Perceived Stress and Health Anxiety: A Mixed-Methods Approach

Jip van Oostrum (s2838907)

Department of Psychology, University of Twente

M12 BSc. Thesis

1st supervisor: Prof. Dr. Matthijs Noordzij (UT-BMS)

2nd supervisor: Dr. Christina Bode (UT-BMS)

June 24, 2024

Word count: 12792

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Matthijs Noordzij, whose guidance and expertise were instrumental throughout this project. His support was invaluable at every stage of the process.

I extend my sincere thanks to Dr. Christina Bode for her insightful feedback and suggestions on the greenlight version, which significantly enhanced the quality of the work.

I am deeply grateful to my colleague Kaj for his enthusiastic cooperation and invaluable knowledge. Working with him was both productive and enjoyable, and his contributions were crucial to the project's success.

I would also like to thank all the participants of the study. Their involvement was essential, and without their contribution, this research would not have been possible.

Finally, I am profoundly thankful for the unwavering support of my family and friends. Their encouragement and belief in me provided the motivation I needed to complete this bachelor thesis.

Table of Contents

Wearables: definition, advantages and disadvantages	6
Defining and measuring stress	7
Health anxiety	8
Bridging gaps in research	10
The current study	10
Methods	12
Research design overview	
Participants	
Participant Recruitment	
Data collection	14
Quantitative data collection	14
Qualitative data collection	17
Data Analysis	17
Quantitative data analysis	17
Mixed-methods analyses	
Results	21
Participant flow	21
Quantitative Results	
Qualitative Results	
Insight	27
Adjustments	
Health tracking	
Attitudes towards smartwatches	
Mixed Methods Results	
Effect of Smartwatch Presence on Perceived Stress	
Effect of Smartwatch Presence on Health Anxiety	34

Discussion	
Effect of smartwatch use on perceived stress	
Effect of use smartwatch on health anxiety	
Implications of findings	
Strengths and limitations	40
Suggestions for further research	41
Conclusion	42
References	44
Appendix	51
Appendix 1: AI statement	51
Appendix 2: PSS-10 questionnaire (Dutch)	51
Appendix 3: SHAI-14 questionnaire (Dutch)	52
Appendix 4: Qualitative Interview Overview	54
Appendix 5: Supplementary methods	57
Appendix 5.1: participant instructions	
Appendix 5.2: Linear mixed-effects models	57
Appendix 6: R-code for data analysis	
Appendix 7: Thematic analysis codebook	62
Appendix 8: Expanded theme descriptions	63
Appendix 8.1: Physiological Insight	63
Appendix 8.2: Accuracy of Measurement	63
Appendix 8.3: Considerations Impact of Use	64

Abstract

Wearable technology, particularly smartwatches, is becoming increasingly popular for health monitoring and fitness tracking. However, limited research is conducted on the psychosocial impact of these wearables. This study explored the psychosocial effects of wearable smartwatches on perceived stress and health anxiety. The research questions aimed to determine if and how the presence of a wearable smartwatch affects these constructs and to explore the participant's subjective experiences using a mixed methods approach.

This study used mixed methods within-subject replicated counterbalanced AB design in which 26 Dutch participants aged 19 to 59 (84.6 % female) were part of both conditions for one week, either wearing a smartwatch or not. Some participants wore the smartwatch in the first week, and some wore it in the second week to counterbalance the study. Quantitative data was collected using daily and weekly questionnaires using the PSS-10 and SHAI-14 and was evaluated using linear mixed models. After the quantitative data collection, which took two weeks, a selection of participants took part in the qualitative semi-structured interviews.

The quantitative analysis revealed no significant effect of the smartwatch's presence on perceived stress or health anxiety for the overall sample. The qualitative interviews provided deeper insight into the participants' experiences and differences. While most participants reported no or limited change, some expressed decreased stress and health anxiety due to increased awareness and comforting feedback from the smartwatch. Some participants mentioned an increase in their perceived stress, which was not reflected in their scores.

These findings suggest that while smartwatches can offer potential benefits their impact on perceived stress and health anxiety is complex and varies between individuals. Future studies should consider a longitudinal design with a sequential exploratory approach to better assess the effects of wearables on perceived stress and health anxiety. Additionally, including individuals more susceptible to these psychometric constructs could provide deeper insight into the potential impact and mechanisms involved.

Exploring the Impact of Wearable Devices on Perceived Stress and Health Anxiety: A Mixed-Methods Approach

Wearables have become increasingly popular over recent years, and more and more units are shipped and sold yearly, with an estimated 490 million units sold in 2022 (Laricchia, 2024). This popularity is understandable when considering the many functions and uses they can have. Wearables like smartwatches can, for example, measure sleep, physical activity, and calorie intake and even give feedback on improving these (Etkin, 2016). Recently, these wearables have been used to give stress feedback by using a person's heart rate variability (HRV) (Pakhomov et al., 2020). Several studies have explored the effectiveness of wearables in increasing physical activity or improving sleep (Smith et al., 2020; González Ramírez et al., 2023; Buckingham et al., 2020; Klimek et al., 2023). However, few studies have considered these wearables' effect on our psychosocial health, specifically perceived stress and health anxiety (Ferguson et al., 2022; Lupton, 2013). The current study aims to explore the psychosocial effects of wearables on different individuals in the context of stress and health anxiety by using a mixed methods approach within subject replicated counterbalanced AB design in which participants wear a smartwatch for one of the two weeks of the experimental period.

Wearables: definition, advantages and disadvantages

Wearables, typically used as mobile health technology, are devices or apps used to track one's health. Common wearable devices are accessories like smart bracelets, smart watches and armbands. Wearables continuously measure physiological signals and give users insight into their daily activity and experiences (Lu et al., 2020; González Ramírez et al., 2023). When wearables are embodied by the users, being perceived as an extension of themselves or their body, they can significantly positively affect daily physical and mental health (Nelson et al., 2024). Studies found increased physical activity and reduced psychological distress (Choudhury & Asan, 2021; González Ramírez et al., 2023; Ferguson et al., 2022). However, there have also been some critiques of the effects of wearables. Some studies have reported empirical evidence suggesting that prolonged use of wearables reduces the enjoyment of physical and other activities, which can reduce intrinsic motivation to complete such activities, leading to a negative effect in total (Etkin, 2016; Toner, 2018). This aspect of both positive and negative aspects is also reported in a study by Kanstrup et al.

(2018), in which it was found that vulnerable young adults felt feelings of failure when not achieving their step goals or were obsessed with it. Furthermore, some expressed a strong feeling of competition, increasing experienced stress symptoms. Another study found that the use of wearables and the data they provided resulted in significant confusion, reducing their use or stopping use completely (Nelson et al., 2020).

In a systematic review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses, Ferguson et al. (2022) examined the effectiveness of wearable activity trackers for improving physical activity and physiological and psychosocial outcomes. In this study, many positive effects of increasing physical activity and some effects of improving physiological outcomes were found. Very limited reviewed analyses focussed on the psychosocial effects of these physical activity trackers. Four studies focused on quality of life; the only other review focused on disability and pain. This led to Ferguson et al. (2022) concluding that no, or only a weak positive effect on emotional well-being was apparent in this review. This lack of significant results led to the paper by Ferguson et al. (2022) suggesting future research to focus specifically on the effects of wearable activity trackers on psychosocial outcomes. Among psychosocial outcomes, critical factors which can be considered are stress and health anxiety.

Defining and measuring stress

Defining stress and discussing how it is measured is essential. Stress is described as the health pandemic of the 21st century by the World Health Organization (Fink, 2017). Stress is an individual's reaction to a stressor or stimulus (Klimek et al., 2023). A stressor is an external situation or event affecting a person, leading to psychological, behavioural, or physiological stress response. The psychological stress response could also be called "perceived stress," as it is the stress the person consciously experiences and can report on (Wright et al., 2020). In this study, 'stress' will be used to describe the physiological response to stress and 'perceived stress' will be used to describe the psychological response to stress.

Stress can be measured by looking at changes in parasympathetic activity, which can be indirectly measured with, for example, heart rate variability (HRV). HRV indicates the fluctuation of the length of heartbeat intervals, where, in general, a lower HRV indicates a higher stress response and a higher HRV indicates a more relaxed response (Kim et al., 2018; Geus & Gevonden, 2024). Perceived stress is most often measured using (self)-administered questionnaires, for example, the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), which is widely considered reliable (Cohen et al., 1983). Perceived stress can be affected by many external and internal events. Ranging from major life events to minor daily hassles (Wright et al., 2020). Some studies have found evidence of increased perceived stress in individuals when wearing wearables. The study by Attig and Franke (2020) questioned former users for abandonment reasons of their fitness-tracking devices through a questionnaire. They found that several participants mentioned feeling increasingly stressed by a wearable fitness-tracking device. An experimental study by Kanstrup et al. (2018) examined the influence of activity tracking on health engagement in vulnerable young adults. They found evidence for increased perceived stress when using wearables. This perceived stress was a side effect of feelings of competition which the participants experienced. However, both these studies found these results to be side effects, and perceived stress was not the focus of the study.

In contrast, this study will focus on the effects of wearable devices on perceived stress through a mixed methods within-subject replicated counterbalanced AB design on healthy adults. This will allow for a deeper understanding of the potential effects of wearables on perceived stress. Considering the potential impact of wearables on perceived stress, it is also important to explore their effect on health anxiety, another relevant psychological construct.

Health anxiety

Health Anxiety is a psychological construct and occurs when individuals interpret bodily sensations as indicators of severe disease or health problems. This is expressed as excessive worry and anxiousness about an individual's health. An example would be if an individual would interpret a headache as a symptom of a brain tumour. Levels of health anxiety can vary, and severe levels of health anxiety are seen as hypochondriasis and illness anxiety disorder (Salkovskis et al., 2002). In literature, health anxiety, illness anxiety and hypochondriasis are all names used for the same construct; however, illness anxiety and hypochondriasis often refer to pathological levels of health anxiety (Lebel et al., 2020; Salkovskis et al., 2003). As this study does not include individuals with clinically diagnosable mental illnesses, this study will use the name health anxiety when discussing the construct.

Health anxiety can significantly impact an individual's life and lead to increased costs in healthcare due to repeated doctor visits and examinations (Espiridion et al., 2021). Health anxiety has an estimated prevalence of between six and ten per cent in the American population (Noyes et al., 2005). Studies have discussed the potential negative impact of mobile health or m-health technology in the context of Health anxiety. M-health technology includes apps for counting calories and steps and wearables capable of measuring HRV and blood pressure. These studies considered the possibility of increased health anxiety with smartwatch use, showing the need for further research into these effects (Kamel Boulos et al., 2014; Wiederhold, 2015; Lupton, 2013).

Two studies exploring the function of using patient portals in hospitals, which track and relay personal health information to the patient directly, found an increase in patient worry and anxiety when not wholly understanding the results (Giardina et al., 2015; van Kuppenveld et al., 2020). A similar result can be hypothesised when considering the use of wearables and the feedback they provide (Choudhury & Asan, 2021). If wearable devices give biofeedback like HRV, it is possible that users can misinterpret this information, leading to unnecessary worry and an increase in Health anxiety symptoms (Choudhury & Asan, 2021).

One study by Conboy, Flood, and Power (2018) explored the effects of mobile health apps and devices on health anxiety with a quantitative and qualitative questionnaire based on the Short Health Anxiety Inventory (SHAI) and using a snowball convenience sampling method. The study found qualitative evidence for an increase in health anxiety symptoms in the users of m-health apps but a lack of a significant quantitative effect. The study called for more in-depth research into the effects of wearables on health anxiety using a pre-post study (Conboy et al., 2018).

The cognitive theory of health anxiety (Salkovskis et al., 2003) states that health anxiety results from processes which uphold the negative interpretations from which the anxiety stems. This would mean that it is a cycle in which the effects and symptoms become worse over time. This process is driven by some common cognitive processes found in many individuals, like the selective attention bias or physiological responses like the heightened experience of bodily sensations (Salkovskis et al., 2003, p.356). Individuals suffering from health anxiety will look for reassurance to calm down; this can result in either a temporary decrease of health anxiety symptoms or create additional anxiety and fear. Considering these aspects and the constant health updates provided by wearables, it is hypothesised that a wearable can both increase and decrease health anxiety. Other studies looked at the effects of health internet searches on health anxiety. These studies by Fergus (2013) and Dolan and Fergus (2014) found that online health searches increased health anxiety in individuals, raising questions about the effects of constant health information from wearables on health anxiety. Given these considerations and the gaps in existing research, our study aims to explore the psychosocial impacts of wearables by focusing on inexperienced users and supplementing quantitative findings with qualitative interviews.

Bridging gaps in research

Until now, limited research has assessed the psychosocial aspects of wearables. The only other study exploring the psychosocial impact of wearables is on health anxiety by Conboy, Flood, and Power (2018). However, they used an online survey using 38 questions with either a multiple-choice response or free-text qualitative responses. This study consisted only of participants who were already regular m-health technology users. The design of the study reported here used inexperienced participants who have not used this technology before; therefore, the impact of the wearable can be more clearly assessed.

Furthermore, the qualitative interview will provide more detailed and clear information from participants than a qualitative questionnaire, as there is room for follow-up questions and clarification. This study can provide valuable information and insight into the real-world impact of wearable usage. This information could provide a basis for future studies to explore specific impacts discovered in this paper.

The current study

This study explored the effects of wearables on individuals' perceived stress and health anxiety. This study used a mixed methods within subject design in which each participant was their own control using a repeated AB counterbalance (Lane & Hursh, 2013; Lim & In, 2021). In this design, each participant was part of both conditions of the study, which gave a better understanding of the effect of the smartwatch on the participants. Each participant crossed over from phase A (smartwatch present) to B (smartwatch not present) or vice versa. The study used the experience sampling method or ESM as it provided the best basis to assess the subjective experience of subjects with limited intruding aspects. This design had the crucial advantage that subjects were measured in their typical day-to-day life rather than in an experimental lab setting or with a one-off questionnaire, which suited the aim of this study. It allowed for a more in-depth view and a more detailed and expansive data collection for each participant (Myin-Germeys & Kuppens, 2022). This data was collected by having subjects assess their experience daily using self-assessment questionnaires. This method was a good representation of the real-world situation as this would also be the normal condition in which wearables are used.

In the quantitative data collection phase, participants were measured for two weeks, with the first week filling out a daily self-assessment questionnaire and the second week

repeating the same daily self-assessment questionnaire but now wearing a smartwatch daily. A second group of participants started with a smartwatch in week one and not in week two, counterbalancing the study.

Qualitative data collection was done through semi-structured interviews after the two weeks of quantitative data collection. In this qualitative interview, participants were asked about their subjective experience of the experiment and additional questions to elaborate on their experience. Unlike the study by Conboy, Flood, and Power (2018) and Attig and Franke (2020), this study only involved participants without experience with smartwatches, adding the novelty of first-time experiences of the participants.

Considering the previously discussed literature, there were three main goals this study focussed on. Firstly, this study explored the potential effects of wearables on subjects' perceived stress. Secondly, this study aimed to explore the effect of wearables on Health Anxiety. And finally, this study explored the potential effects of wearables on perceived stress and health anxiety through qualitative accounts. Three research questions were established to achieve these goals. It was necessary to quantitatively examine the potential effects of wearables on perceived stress and health anxiety and supplement the potential findings by integrating the qualitative interview analysis. This answered the question (R1): *How does the presence of a wearable smartwatch affect perceived stress in individuals*? and (R2), *How does the presence of a wearable smartwatch affect health anxiety in individuals*?. Then, it was essential to review participants' subjective experiences and perceptions regarding their use of wearable smartwatches. This allowed for a better understanding and painted a complete picture of the potential effects. This gave us the third and final research question (R3): *What are the subjective experiences and perceptions of individuals using wearable smartwatches related to perceived stress and health anxiety*?.

Methods

Research design overview

In the design of this study, the quantitative data was collected before the qualitative data. A selection of the participants took part in the qualitative data collection; the selection method is described in the qualitative data analysis section.

This study used a concurrent and triangulation within-subjects design. In this design, illustrated by Bishop (2015) in Figure 1, the quantitative and qualitative data are analysed simultaneously, meaning that the results from the quantitative data analysis do not affect the qualitative data collection method or vice versa. Furthermore, there is no emphasis on either the quantitative or qualitative data, and finally, it means all participants participate in the same condition. The quantitative data was collected by self-administered daily repeated questionnaires, and the qualitative data was collected through semi-structured interviews. As this study is a combined project the information regarding the SAM assessing threat and challenge in the context of stress will be excluded from the methods, analysis, results, and discussion.

Figure 1 Illustration of a Concurrent Design Concurrent designs

Convergent parallel



Note. Figure taken from Bishop (2015). QUAN and QUAL stand for quantitative and qualitative, respectively. The separation and positioning of the boxes in the illustration represent the simultaneous collection of data, and neither data is prioritised.

Participants

In total, 26 adults aged 19 to 59 participated in this study. Participants were either students, working students, full-time workers, or unemployed. All participants were from the Netherlands. Each participant participated voluntarily and signed an informed consent form at

the start of the study. The whole study was conducted in Dutch. The University of Twente Ethics Committee gave ethical approval under request number 240270 A selection of participants participated in the qualitative data collection; this selection procedure will be described in the participant recruitment section.

Participant Recruitment

The study aimed to have as many participants as possible within the available materials and time limits. Recruitment for the quantitative component halted when the maximum number of participants within these limits was reached. The number of participants for the qualitative components was limited to the time available for the researchers to conduct the interviews within the data collection timeframe. The inclusion criteria for the study were that participants spoke Dutch and were in possession or had access to a mobile device with which they could fill in the questionnaires. Exclusion criteria were having a serious psychological condition or having regularly worn and used a smartwatch device in the months before the study.

A convenience sampling method was used to collect participants for the study, the same participant pool was used for both data collection phases. All participants were contacted in person or via text and were all friends and family of the researchers. Forty-eight individuals were contacted to participate, of which 26 (54.2%) participated in the study. For the qualitative interview, researcher 1 approached nine individuals, of whom seven (88.9%) agreed to participate. Researcher 2 approached ten individuals, and nine (90%) agreed to participate. Unfortunately, two participants were excluded after completing the quantitative and qualitative data collection, as they revealed during the qualitative interview that they regularly use a smartwatch.

When participants agreed to participate, they also agreed to participate in the study's quantitative component for two weeks, fill in daily questionnaires using the TIIM phone application, and wear a smartwatch for one of those weeks. When agreeing to participate in the qualitative component of the study, participants agreed that they could be contacted by the researchers for an interview. Participants agreed that they were allowed to stop their participation in the study at any time without explanation, upon which all their data would be removed. Only one participant received compensation for participation in the form of 3.5 SONA credits, which are compulsory subject-hour credits for psychology students at the University of Twente.

Data collection

The study consisted of both a quantitative and qualitative data collection phase. Both data collection phases used different procedures and materials. Therefore, this section will be split into the quantitative and qualitative data collection.

Quantitative data collection

The quantitative data was collected from March 17, 2024, until the 21st of April 2024. In the quantitative data collection phase, the participants were divided into four starting groups, each starting one week after the other. This was done due to the limit of seven Garmin devices, which required a weekly transfer of the devices from one participant to another. After agreeing to participate, the participants were asked if they preferred one of the four starting groups. Participants without a preference were assigned a group based on logistical availability. Participants were put into their preferred groups if possible. Which participant started with a smartwatch and which participant did not was assigned within each group at random. An additional description of the participant instructions can be found in Appendix 5.1.

During quantitative data collection, the participants were given either a Garmin Forerunner 255 or Garmin Vivosmart 4 for one week of the data collection. Each Garmin was fitted with functions the participants were told not to change. These functions were Heart rate, HRV, Stress, Sleep, respiration, Ox, and Health Snapshot. Only two participants changed the functions; one participant added his heart rate to his home screen, and one participant added the run activity tracker. The participants were shown how to see their daily and weekly stress levels, as a question about this was included in the questionnaires.

The Garmin Vivosmart 4 required the participants to download the Garmin Connect app on their smartphone

(https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.garmin.android.apps.connectmobile&hl= en_US) to see these measurements. The participants received the charging cable and the information booklets inside the same box in which the smartwatch was given.

The researchers used the Twente Intervention and Interaction Machine (TIIM) software

(https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=nl.bmslab.utwente.tiimapp&hl=en_US) to construct and distribute all questionnaires for the quantitative data collection. Using TIIM, participants could fill out the daily and weekly questionnaires on their smartphones. The

TIIM software included the ability to preset opening times for the questionnaires. This function set all questionnaires to open at 18:00 every day. Unfortunately, this malfunctioned for the study's second, third and fourth starting groups. This meant that the researchers had to manually time and open the questionnaires every day at 18:00. As a result, some questionnaires were opened at different times, ranging from 17:00 to 20:00. Besides notifications, the researchers sent an additional reminder via text when the questionnaires were available.

There were two types of questionnaires: daily questionnaires asking about the day and weekly questionnaires asking about the week. The questionnaires had a text prompt above the questions indicating this. Figure 2 shows an example of the participants' screen when answering a question from the questionnaire. The questionnaires were named Day 0, Day 1 up to Day 14 and Week 1, or Week 2.

Figure 2

Example participant screen



Note: This is a screenshot of what the participants would see when completing the questionnaires on their phones using TIIM. The bold blue text is the question, and the grey subtext explains the context in which the question is asked.

The daily questionnaires measured the participants' perceived stress using the PSS-10. The weekly questionnaires measured the participants' Health Anxiety using the SHAI-14 and perceived stress using the PSS-10. Each questionnaire started by asking if the participant wore their smartwatch that day. If they indicated "yes", the next question would ask the participant to fill in their average stress score from that day or week. This was done to prompt the participants to look at their stress levels and reflect on the stress feedback from the smartwatch before filling in the questionnaire, similar to an approach from Montagna et al. (2021). If the participant responded "No" to the question, the follow-up question was skipped, and the participant automatically continued with the first question of the PSS-10.

Perceived Stress Scale. Perceived stress was measured using the PSS-10, which has a widely accepted Dutch-translated version, but this version's psychometric properties have yet to be assessed in the scientific literature (Mapi Research Trust, 2023). The questionnaire consisted of 10 questions in which respondents were asked how often they felt a certain way the last day or week with a five-point scale ranging from 0 ("never") to 4 ("very often"). The PSS-10 in original English has been shown to have good internal consistency and a Cronbach's alpha of .83 (Lee, 2012). The complete questionnaire can be found in Appendix 2. The Cronbach's alpha of the daily translated PSS-10 questionnaire in this sample was .66, which is considered acceptable.

Short Health Anxiety Inventory. Health anxiety was measured weekly using the SHAI-14 (Te Poelman et al., 2017), translated into Dutch. For the translation, the research team used chat-gpt from open AI (<u>https://chatgpt.com</u>), which the two researchers adjusted and assessed independently. The two adjusted versions were then evaluated and discussed by both researchers, upon which a combined and agreed-upon final version of the Dutch SHAI-14 was created. The SHAI-14 consists of 14 statements in which the participant must pick the most suitable to their feelings, with scores ranging from 0 to 3. An example question is "I worry about my health" or 'Ik maak me zorgen om mijn gezondheid." and the answers are 0 "Never", 1 "Occasionally", 2 "Much of the time", and 3 "Most of the time". The complete questionnaire and its translation are found in Appendix 3. The SHAI-14 has been shown to have good internal consistency and a Cronbach's alpha of .92 (Te Poelman et al., 2017). The Cronbach's alpha of the weekly translated SHAI-14 questionnaire in this sample was .63, which is considered acceptable.

Additionally, the SAM was used to assess stress appraisal measures, but this falls outside the scope of this study and will thus not be discussed further.

Qualitative data collection

The qualitative data collection consisted of a semi-structured interview. Participants were invited to participate in the qualitative interviews after the quantitative data collection phase. Participants were approached at random until the maximum number of feasible interviews within the timeframe was reached (n=16). All interviews were conducted in the last week of data collection. Nine interviews were conducted in person and seven online based on participant preference. The Microsoft Teams recording, and transcription software were used for interviews conducted online. Microsoft Word was used to record and transcribe interviews conducted in person. The researchers checked and adjusted all generated transcripts using the audio recordings of the interviews. The materials used for this were the audio recording from Word, the generated transcript from the Word audio recording and a headset to replay the recording and edit where necessary.

The qualitative interview scheme consisted of 9 questions and some predetermined followup questions. The researchers designed the questions to gain additional insight into how participants used the smartwatches and their subjective experiences. After the first interviews were conducted, some questions were added or adjusted based on the researchers' experiences. An example of an added question inquired if participants could imagine the advantages and disadvantages of using smartwatches to track one's health. This question gave a more comprehensive range of opinions regarding using smartwatches for health tracking.

Appendix 4 shows the complete procedure of the semi-structured interview, including the opening and closing statements. The interviews took between 10 and 30 minutes to complete.

Data Analysis

This section will describe the analysis performed on both the quantitative and qualitative data. Furthermore, it will explain how both analyses were integrated to answer the research questions.

Quantitative data analysis

The quantitative data was exported from TIIM into an Excel file for analysis. TIIM generated a personal identifier number for each participant to anonymise the data. All data from the different starting groups were combined, and data from the excluded participants were removed. Next, the data was imported into Rstudio (Version 4.1.2), the integrated development environment for the R programming language. The 'tidyverse' package was

used for data manipulation and visualisation. Three separate data sets were made for the demographic, day, and week data. The day data included the results of the daily PSS-10 questionnaire, and the week data included the information from the weekly PSS-10 and SHAI-14 questionnaires. All data sets were converted into a long format before analyses.

The data was cleaned and inspected for outliers and missing data. Afterwards, the data was transformed so that timestamps were changed to suffixes to represent each day, from day 1 to 14 (suffixes 0 to 13). The scoring of questions 4, 5, 7 and 8 of the PSS-10 were reversed according to the scoring scale. Scores for each questionnaire were summed accordingly and put into one score variable (SHAI and PSS10). Participants were excluded from the analysis if they did not fill in at least 80% of the questionnaires. The weekly PSS-10 scores were excluded from the week data. The Daily PSS-10 scores were converted to average weekly scores (avg_PSS10) and added to the week data. Descriptive statistics were calculated to provide a general overview of the results. Additionally, a simple plot of each participant's average PSS-10 score, and SHAI-14 score was made to evaluate the score change of the smartwatch's presence on the respective scores.

A linear mixed-effects model was applied to examine the smartwatch's effect on perceived stress based on the weekly average PSS-10 score and health anxiety based on the SHAI-14 score. The smartwatch's presence and smartwatch presence in week 1 was coded as a dichotomous variable (1 for present, 0 for not present). Details of the used linear mixedeffects models can be found in Appendix 5.2.

Random effects were included to account for variations between perceived stress and Health Anxiety scores of individuals. Both models assume the random effects follow a normal distribution with a mean of 0 and a variance of σ^2 . This assumption was checked using diagnostic plots. The 'lmer' function of the 'lmerTest' package was used to fit the linear mixed-effects model to the data. The statistical significance of the analysis will be assessed using p-values and 95% confidence intervals. The model for perceived stress included 44 observations and the model for health anxiety included 40 observations. The complete R-code used can be found in Appendix 6.

Qualitative data analysis

All transcripts for the qualitative data analysis were uploaded to Atlas.ti web v7.7.1. (Scientific Software Development GmbH). This study performed an inductive thematic analysis with some deductive elements. This was done to let the data form its own themes but add some specificity in later steps of the analysis. This approach entails that no prior theories or preconceptions are used to group or fit the data in analytic preconceptions. This method suits this exploratory study as it is data-driven and leaves room for all relevant information to be included in the analysis. However, it also adds some focus in later steps of the analysis. It must, however, be noted that some theoretical preconceptions of the researchers cannot be entirely ruled out (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Both researchers coded two initial interviews conducted by the other to let no prior knowledge of the participant affect the coding; this was done using a purely inductive approach. The codes attempted to interpret the meaning of what the participants said in the interview without any theoretical preconceptions. Afterwards, both researchers compared their coded interviews and created and defined a set of codes which could be used to code the rest of the interview; during this step, some theoretically influenced decisions were made to focus the next step in the analysis, an example being the addition of a code covering misinterpretation of bodily sensations which is relevant for the cognitive theory of health anxiety (Salkovskis et al., 2003). Furthermore, an additional "Health tracking" theme was added to summarise all comments relevant to health and health anxiety. Both researchers coded the initial four interviews. Any quotations that researchers were unsure of or could not code were marked as "Discuss" and accompanied by a note so that they could be reviewed with both researchers later. Quotes deemed irrelevant were marked as "Other" and excluded from the analysis.

An example of this would be repeating the question if misunderstood by either the participant or interviewer and closing statements of the interview irrelevant to the analysis. After all interviews were coded individually, the researchers discussed the quotes and sections marked under "Discuss" to resolve discrepancies, add new codes, and refine existing codes. After all discrepancies were resolved or recoded, the researchers discussed and created four main themes and six sub-themes based on the existing codes. These themes were defined, after which all existing codes were grouped under the themes for later use. The codebook for the thematic analysis can be found in Appendix 6.

Mixed-methods analyses

First, the two types of collected data were analysed independently and later integrated; this is called an independent analysis of mixed methods (Fetters, 2020). The qualitative data was compared to the quantitative data, and similarities and discrepancies

were examined. Furthermore, the qualitative data was also used to supplement and explain the effects of smartwatch presence on perceived stress and health anxiety shown by the quantitative data.. The qualitative data can shed light on the participants' usage and experiences with the smartwatch during the experimental period as reported after the whole period, which is not available by simply observing the results of the quantitative data. This allows for stronger links to be established by combining the quantitative and qualitative results (Bishop, 2015).

Furthermore, the qualitative data inquired about general opinions and feelings about using smartwatches, which can provide valuable insight for future studies. Descriptive quantitative data and qualitative data were combined in four individual accounts of participants. These participants were selected based on a score change observed from the descriptive statistics. These participants' accounts were observed, and discrepancies were discussed, giving valuable insight into individual differences.

Results

Participant flow

All participants (26) took part in the quantitative data collection phase. The exclusion criteria for starting this phase were insufficient control of the Dutch language, recent use of a smartwatch and the presence of a severe mental illness. Participants were excluded from the quantitative analysis if they filled in less than 80% of the questionnaires. The participants were invited via text or in person. The participants were all friends and family of the researchers. All participants were provided information about the study, and informed consent was obtained before participation. During the two-week quantitative data collection phase, the participants were instructed to complete daily questionnaires on their mobile phones using the TIIM application. There were three different starting groups, which all started one week after the other. The participants were allowed to choose their starting group, and if no group was preferred, they were put into one by the researchers based on logistic availability. Within the starting groups, the participants who would start with a smartwatch were selected at random.

The PSS-10 scores were excluded from the weekly data set as the TIIM software generated complications when converting these scores to workable data files. As the PSS-10 score was also inquired daily, we could rely on weekly averages of the daily PSS-10 scores.

Four participants were excluded from the quantitative data analysis, two did not fill in the required number of questionnaires (80%), and two later revealed that they had worn a smartwatch regularly. A complete overview of the participants included in the quantitative data analysis and the corresponding demographic information can be found in Table 1. Additionally, not all participants were included in the analysis of both linear mixed models. Two additional participants were excluded from the linear mixed model estimating the effect of smartwatch presence on the SHAI-14 score as these participants only completed one of the two measures of the SHAI-14. 44 observations were included in the perceived stress model, and 40 observations in the health anxiety model.

A subset of the participants from the quantitative data collection phase were invited to participate in the qualitative interviews. Sixteen participants were interviewed in this phase. Two participants were excluded after completing the interview and revealing that they had worn a smartwatch regularly in recent months. The qualitative semi-structured interviews were conducted in person or online and recorded for later use in the qualitative data analysis. A complete overview of the participants included in the qualitative data analysis and the corresponding demographic information can be found in Table 1.

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Participants in both quantitative and qualitative data collection

Characteristic	Quantita	ative	Qualita	tive
	n	%	n	%
Gender				
Male	22	86.4	12	75.0
Female	4	15.4	4	25.0
Non-Binary	0	0.0	0	0.0
Age (mean \pm SD)	25.9 ± 10.00		$24.9 \pm 9.3.$	
Occupational Status				
Student (not working)	6	23.1	4	25.0
Student (working)	8	30.8	5	31.2
Full-time working	8	30.8	4	25.0
Unemployed	1	3.8	0	0.0
Other	3	11.5	3	18.8

Note. This table displays the demographic information of both the quantitative and qualitative participant groups. Not all participants from the quantitative group participated in the qualitative group.

Quantitative Results

Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics of the variables PSS-10 score and SHAI-14 score. The categorical variables are excluded from this table as they are either 1 or 0.

Table 2

 Min
 Max
 Mean
 SD

 avg_PSS-10 score
 1.857
 16.00
 9.82
 3.27

 SHAI-14 score
 3.00
 19.00
 9.50
 4.12

Descriptive statistics of average PSS-10 scores and SHAI-14 scores

Note. This table displays the descriptive statistics of the PSS-10 and SHAI-14 scores, representing perceived stress and health anxiety, respectively. It used the weekly average scores of 22 participants for the PSS-10 and the weekly scores of 20 participants for the SHAI-14.

Additionally, each participant's average score on the PSS-10 and the score on the SHAI were plotted by Smartwatch Present to determine the effect of smartwatch presence on each participants score seen in Figure 3 and 4.

Figure 3

Average PSS-10 scores by Smartwatch Presence for each participant.



Note. This figure displays the average PSS-10 score for each participant when the smartwatch was not present (0) and was present (1).

Figure 4

Average SHAI scores by Smartwatch Presence for each participant.



SHAI Scores by Smartwatch Presence

Note. This figure displays the SHAI score for each participant when the smartwatch was not present (0) and was present (1).

These figures clearly show some significant differences between participants. These will be further explored in the mixed methods results section.

Perceived Stress. A linear mixed effects model was fitted to determine the effect of smartwatch presence on perceived stress, the detailed results of the model are shown in Table 3. The analysis revealed that the presence of a smartwatch had no significant effect on the average PSS-10 scores ($\beta = 0.297$, p = 0.608). Similarly, wearing the smartwatch in week 1 did not significantly influence perceived tress levels ($\beta = -0.560$, p = 0.709). 68.5% of the variance in the average PSS-10 score can be attributed to participants' individual differences.

Table 3

	Average I	PSS-10 S	core			
Predictors	Estimates	std. Error	CI	t	р	df
(Intercept)	10.078	1.293	[7.395, 12.760]	7.791	<0.001	22.039
smartwatch present	0.297	0.570	[-0.888, 1.483]	0.521	0.608	21
week1 present	-0.560	1.479	[-3.643, 2.523]	-0.379	0.709	20
Random Effects						
σ^2	3.574					
Participant	7.763					
ICC	0.685					
N participant	22					
Observations	44					

Results of the Linear mixed model estimating the effect of smartwatch presence on average perceived stress

Note: Smartwatch present is codes as 0 = not present or 1 = present. Week1 present is coded as 0 = not present in week 1 or 1 = present in week 1.

Health Anxiety. The analysis of the linear mixed effects model of smartwatch presence on health anxiety found no significant effect of smartwatch presence on the SHAI-14 score with an intercept of practically 0 (p = 1.0). Neither was there a significant effect of smartwatch presence in week 1 on the SHAI-14 score ($\beta = 1.73$, p = 0.423). A significant amount of the variance between the scores (89.6%) can be attributed to individual differences. A more detailed display of the results is found in Table 4.

Table 4

	SHAI-14 S	core				
Predictors	Estimates	std. Error	CI	t	р	df
(Intercept)	8.20	1.845	[4.325, 12.075]	4.44	<0.001	18.49
smartwatch present	-1.584e-16	0.429	[-0.898, 0.898]	0.00	1.000	19.00
week1 present	1.73	2.12	[-2.709, 6.175]	0.819	0.423	18.00
Random Effects						
σ^2	1.84					
Participant	15.87					
ICC	0.896					
N Participant	20					
Observations	40					

Results of the Linear mixed model estimating the effect of smartwatch presence on Health anxiety

Note: Smartwatch present is codes as 0 = not present or 1 = present. Week1 present is coded as 0 = not present in week 1 or 1 = present in week 1.

Having analysed the quantitative data, it is evident that there is no significant effect of smartwatch presence on either perceived stress or health anxiety. However, to gain insight into possible explanations for why there is no significant effect, we turn to the qualitative results for a more in-depth view.

Qualitative Results

The thematic analysis highlighted three main themes and six sub-themes essential to understanding the participant's experience with the smartwatch during the experimental period. The three main themes were i) Insight, ii) Adjustments, and iii) Attitudes towards smartwatches. An additional theme regarding health tracking was added; this was done to encompass all relevant information related to health anxiety. As the interviews were in Dutch, all quotations were translated from Dutch to English and interpreted accordingly.

Insight

The theme Insight referred to the usage of real-time data to gain insight into their (bodily) experiences and activities. The three subthemes identified for insight were i) Physiological insight, ii) Alignment and iii) Behavioural insight.

Physiological insight. The sub-theme of physiological insight is defined as "insights into the bodily reactions within daily routines." Participants used the smartwatch to understand how their bodies responded in various situations and were curious about how their daily routines compared to others. There was a specific interest in stress (12/14), sleep (8/14), and heart rate (13/14). This physiological insight was new to participants, and nine noted its potential to improve their lives. However, participants expressed confusion over certain measurements like HRV, Ox, and respiration, as they were unclear about what these readings meant. Some also found the numerical representation of stress levels to be vague, not knowing if their stress levels were high or low. One participant expressed specifically how the numerical representation of stress was strange to them.

"The smartwatch, of course, indicates a stress level as a number, but yeah, what that number exactly means, that's still vague for me. So, if I had a certain stress level, I didn't necessarily know if it was high or low." (Participant #11414)

This theme shows that while the smartwatch provided valuable real-time data, it also caused confusion about the meaning of this data. A more detailed description of this theme is found in Appendix 7.1.

Alignment. The sub-theme Alignment is defined as "Users assessing whether their inner sensations align with the real-time data collected by the smartwatch". This theme encompasses the common testing of the smartwatch. Almost all (11/14) participants were

interested to see if the smartwatch would reflect their personal experience in the measurements and they would compare their personal experiences with the readings. Often, participants expressed how this could confirm their experience and thought this was "pleasant". A participant expressed this by saying:

"Yeah, I personally found that nice. I could see that, yes, this day was fine, I could feel that myself. And I see here that my stress level was indeed low, so yeah, that matches." (Participant #11440)

However, 12 participants considered their own experiences the standard, and if not reflected by the smartwatch they would doubt its accuracy. Two participants did this differently; they considered the smartwatch to be the standard and would assess if their personal experience was accurate based on the smartwatch. One participant expressed this as follows:

"At least, by getting that confirmation again, I also have the confirmation for myself that how I experience my stressors actually corresponds to reality." (Participant #11477)

Assessing whether the smartwatch would align with their personal experiences was common among participants. Most participants considered their personal experiences as the standard, and if the smartwatch did not align, they doubted its accuracy. However, two participants did this differently as they assessed the accuracy of their personal experience through the feedback of the smartwatch.

Behavioural insight. This theme is defined as "Insights participants gained into their activity patterns within daily routines". It encompasses what participants looked at regarding their physical activities, how they compared them to the norm, and how they feel about them. Overall, participants were positive about this insight; some (6/14) could even use it to improve their abilities. Only one participant expressed specific indifference to the physical activity feedback by saying:

"No, yeah, I see it, and then I think, yeah, seven thousand steps taken, and I think, "OK". Not that I become very happy because of that or anything." (Participant #11426)

Adjustments

The theme Adjustments is defined as Any changes in behavioural patterns or cognitive schemata resulting from smartwatch's feedback. It looks at possible changes in

cognitive schemata or intentions to change behaviour. Nine participants changed their cognitive schemata, behavioural patterns, or both, but these changes did not persist post-use. One participant made a behavioural change to adapt to stressful situations by identifying stressful moments and responding more calmly:

"Sometimes a (I am a) bit stressed that I sometimes thought like take a step back, taking back rest and doing slightly less stressful things. (...) When I'm stressed, but don't panic, for example like oh I still have to get this, I still have to get that. Then doing that a bit calmer. Hopefully I will then forget a little less. Usually, I have to walk back three times to get my things and now twice." (Participant #11438)

This behavioural change was accompanied with a change in cognitive schemata as the participant's perception of stress changed. Other participants mentioned similar effects; they felt motivated to change their behaviour or had a heightened awareness of their actions on their health. Six participants expressed a change in their perceived stress of which four participants mentioned how their perceived stress had decreased. One used feedback at the moment to reduce their stress, while three reflected on their stressful situations to handle future stressful situations better.

However, two participants expressed increased stress due to the smartwatch. One participant mentioned that the stress feedback during stressful situations would prolong and increase their stress when it would otherwise pass by itself:

"I just sometimes feel in those moments, when it indicates that you have a very high stress level. Then I think that, because it indicates it so strongly, it probably just gave me more stress at the moment. While normally, maybe such a stressful moment would pass much more quickly, now it lasts a bit longer or something. (...) You already have stress, and then it's a sort of confirmation of 'Oh, damn, I have stress,' so you stress even more about it." (Participant #4249)

The other participant experienced an increase in their perceived stress when the smartwatch indicated a high-stress even though the participant did not feel stressed. However, it must be noted that both participants expressed that they experienced less stress in situations they normally deemed stressful by reviewing their stress levels in hindsight.

Although six participants expressed how the smartwatch affected their perception of stress, the largest group (8/14) did not have such an experience. They were unaffected by the stress feedback and did not change their perception of stress.

Health tracking

This theme describes the opinions and experiences of participants regarding the health-tracking functionality of the smartwatch. It explores the general opinions of health-tracking devices and their effect on health anxiety. Participants often referred to a larger scope when discussing the effects of health tracking and feedback. They reflected how this technology could be used to increase physical activity, prevent disease through early detection or help individuals to worry less about their health. However, these comments were in the context that it could benefit some people and not everyone. Thirteen participants expressed concern that individuals prone to worry or panic could be negatively affected by misinterpreting information and readings. This could lead to increased worry and false concern for one's health. One participant explained it as follows:

"But you also... I don't know, you really have to be careful about how you bring something like that to a person. And that there really has to be something alongside it. That people also get to hear that... It's not a problem to have this. Like, you're not going to die from this. So that people don't... I: Yeah. So that people don't suddenly think... Oh, I have a high reading. There must be something wrong with me. - Yeah, like oh, I need to see a doctor now." (Participant #4249)

Participants expressed how this misinterpretation or confusion could lead to increased health concerns or anxiety in more sensitive individuals. None of these doubts about were present when participants reflected on their personal experiences. Six participants felt less worried about their health and felt an increased positive awareness. They felt that health concerns were reduced as the feedback showed their concerns were unwarranted.

One participant explained how they experienced moments of anxiety or panic with regards to their health. In these situations, they checked their smartwatch for confirmation, but did not experience a comforting effect. This specific case will be further explored in the mixed results section.

This theme shows differing opinions about the effects of a smartwatch on individuals' perceptions of health. Participants reflect on how it can benefit some but not others. The specific account of one participant highlights a potential health anxiety reducing effect, further explored in the mixed results section.

Attitudes towards smartwatches

The main theme, Attitudes towards smartwatches, is defined as "Any opinions that users have regarding smartwatches and their impact." The three sub-themes identified are i) Experience vs. Measurement, ii) Accuracy of Measurement and iii) Consideration Impacts of Use.

Prioritising Experience vs. Measurement. The sub-theme Experience vs. Measurement is defined as "The extent to which users value real-time data to describe their real-time experiences". This theme describes a substantial difference between two participants in how they feel the real-time data relates to their personal experiences.

One participant expressed how the data had nothing to say about them and how their own experience is the only thing they considered, expressed as follows:

"While I think, yeah, it's just a measurement. You can't always rely on it, in the sense that the device can tell me if I've slept well, but if I wake up and I'm not rested, then I'm not rested. The device can say whatever it wants". (Participant #11429)

Conversely, another participant expressed that they used the smartwatch to identify their feelings, especially stress. They usually did not recognise stress and while wearing the smartwatch, they constantly checked to see exactly what they felt. This gave the participants a better understanding of what stress was, which they expressed as follows:

"If I feel stressed, I now better understand the difference between not being stressed and being stressed. It's a bit like when you drink coffee and suddenly realise, 'Oh yeah, this is what it feels like when you've had too much caffeine.' Just a bit of bouncing around, I have that with stress as well. So, it has made me think that I can put labels on it so that, for example, at high stress, you're now at 25 or so, which is what I also felt." (Participant #11477) Additionally, with regards to stress, three participants mentioned that their personal experience did not align with their readings, which led to confusion. These participants started to doubt their own abilities to read and recognise their feelings.

This sub-theme shows differences in how individuals relate smartwatch data to their experiences and how this can sometimes lead to doubt. The contrast between one participant who disregarded the data and another who relied on it highlights the variation in this sample.

Accuracy of Measurement. The sub-theme Accuracy of Measurements is defined as "The extent to which users trust the accuracy of the smartwatch's measurements." It covers all opinions from participants regarding the perceived accuracy of the smartwatch. Almost all (13/14) participants mentioned their perceived the accuracy of the smartwatch. Participants considered some measurements accurate (n = 27), with mentions of stress, heart rate and sleep.

Doubts about the accuracy were expressed most often (n = 30) and except for one were all related to stress. Ten participants mentioned perceived inaccuracies of the smartwatch (n = 21) and were most often related to stress (n = 13). The doubts and inaccuracies were all related to instances when the smartwatch did not align with the participants personal experiences. This led to some participants viewing the feedback as irrelevant:

"I didn't really see it as structural feedback, or anything like that. Or as accurate feedback. For example, my stress levels were just through the roof every day, while it was just because I was exercising every day. So yeah, I thought, well, for me it didn't seem right, so yeah, then you don't do much with feedback." (Participant #11440)

Overall, opinions about the accuracy of the measurements vary between and within participants. Stress measurements were the most discussed, with a stronger doubt than trust in their accuracy. Discrepancies between personal experiences and measurements led to doubts of perceived accuracy, showing how this is an important factor for trusting in feedback. A more detailed description of this theme can be found in Appendix 7.2.

Considerations Impacts of Use. The sub-theme Considerations Impacts of Use is defined as the User's beliefs regarding the impact of smartwatches on individual and societal levels. Most participants (11/14) had positive experiences with the smartwatch. Participants enjoyed the insights into their activities and health, and some felt more motivated to be more active. There were however some general critiques of the smartwatch, including skin

irritation, operational issues, high purchase price, how it could be distracting, and privacy concerns regarding personal data. The most prominent concern mentioned by seven participants, was the potential for individuals to become obsessed with the data. Explained by one participant:

"And, I think for others, but for other people, it can actually go in the wrong direction. And then I'm thinking of someone who has a strong need for control, you know, that they might get too caught up in it. I personally believe that that's never good." (Participant #11441)

While participants saw personal and potential societal benefits, they also considered a range of negative impacts with a particular risk of obsession. A more detailed description of this theme can be found in Appendix 7.3.

Mixed Methods Results

This section integrated the quantitative and qualitative results to compare and review the similarities and differences between the two data types. It was apparent from the quantitative analysis that the presence of a smartwatch had no significant effect on perceived stress or health anxiety. However, the qualitative interviews found some significant differences between participant accounts. This section will examine the absence of a significant effect within the sample, comparing the quantitative and qualitative results on a group level and highlight participants based on the score change from Figures 3 and 4 of the quantitative data.

Effect of Smartwatch Presence on Perceived Stress

The quantitative data found no significant effect for smartwatch presence or present in week 1 for the sample. Qualitative interviews reflected this, with the largest group of participants (8/14) reporting no change in their perception of stress. However, some participants did experience a change in perceived stress. Two participants' accounts selected based on Figure 3 are explored in detail.

Participant #4249 had a mixed experience with the smartwatch and their perceived stress. In the qualitative interviews, they reported increased stress in certain situations and explained that receiving stress feedback during stressful situations prolonged and intensified their stress, which would otherwise subside more quickly. Despite this increase they also

experienced a decrease in perceived stress about work, which they considered highly stressful. The smartwatch feedback showing low stress levels reduced their perceived stress:

"But also, the other way around. For example, at work, I always had super-low stress levels. So maybe before, I sometimes dreaded going to work. But now, knowing that it causes me so little stress, I worry about it less. I think, oh well, it'll be fine." (Participant #4249)

The score change showed that participant #4249's average perceived stress score was lower when wearing the smartwatch, suggesting that regardless of stress-inducing moments, there was a net decrease on their overall perceived stress.

Participant #11416 similarly had a two-sided experience. They doubted the accuracy of stress measurements and felt it did not reflect their personal experience. However, the participant mentioned how they had an increased awareness of their stress and subsequent behavioural changes:

"I think it's mainly that I've become more aware. Seeing the stress meter or whatever makes me more conscious of when I'm stressed. (...) It's not so much that I can better assess how and what causes stress, but rather that I'm more aware that if there's stress, I need to reduce it." (Participant #11416)

The score change showed an increase in their perceived stress. Which can be attributed to their heightened awareness initially increasing their stress response.

While the overall quantitative data showed no significant effect of smartwatch presence on perceived stress, these individual accounts highlight the importance of individual and situational differences when evaluating the impact of smartwatch presence on perceived stress.

Effect of Smartwatch Presence on Health Anxiety

No significant effect was found for smartwatch presence or smartwatch presence in week 1 on the SHAI-14. The qualitative data supported this result with only ten mentions of decreased effects on health anxiety and 40 mentions of unaffected health anxiety.

However, some individual score changes from Figure 4 and accounts from the qualitative interviews hint at a possible effect. Two participants were highlighted to explore this possibility.

Participant #11477 had a lower health anxiety score when wearing the smartwatch. They expressed how they experienced moments where they catastrophized strange bodily sensations causing worry and anxiety. They described their personal experiences with the smartwatch as potentially comforting, explaining that during health anxious moments, they would check their smartwatch for confirmation. However, they felt this did not have a significantly comforting effect on them suggesting more time to get used to the watch might help:

"I think if you wear a watch long-term, with more options to see exactly what it is, that could be more calming. (...) so you know for sure that it's accurate. I wore it for a week, and I don't know for sure how accurate those readings are. I trust it, but it's still not enough time to really label the feeling you're having at that moment." (Participant #11477)

Despite this, their scores decreased, and the participant mentioned they used the smartwatch to better understand their own experiences. This suggests that they highly responsive to the smartwatch readings and highlights the potential of smartwatches to reduce health anxiety.

Participant #11426 had an increased score of health anxiety when wearing the smartwatch. In qualitative accounts, they mentioned that the smartwatch had not changed their health perception but mentioned recently focusing more on health unrelated to the smartwatch, which could explain the slightly increased levels of health anxiety:

"When I started wearing the watch, I was also just getting back into exercising more. So, you're naturally more focused on your health to make sure you get through the week in a decent way." (Participant #11426)

Overall, the quantitative and qualitative data seem to support the absence of a significant effect of smartwatch presence on perceived stress or health anxiety on a group level. However, some discrepancies exist between and within participants, with specific situations affecting perceived stress and health anxiety. The qualitative data suggests that increased stress awareness through the smartwatch can both increase and decrease perceived stress, and smartwatches have the potential to decrease health anxiety symptoms for some individuals.

Discussion

This study examined how wearable usage affects perceived stress and health anxiety in individuals. To answer this goal, participants were introduced to a wearable for one week of a two-week experimental period in which they filled in daily and weekly questionnaires to assess perceived stress and health anxiety. The findings of this study suggest that there is no significant effect of the presence of a smartwatch on perceived stress or health anxiety. Additionally, there were varied participant experiences concerning perceived stress and health anxiety without a consistent trend between participants.

Effect of smartwatch use on perceived stress.

It is clear from the quantitative results that no significant effect was found for smartwatch presence on perceived stress, supported by the qualitative analysis concluding that most participants did not experience any change in their perception of stress. This nonsignificant effect is in line with the umbrella meta-analysis of Ferguson et al. (2022); however, it does not support the suggested effect found in Attige and Frank (2020) and Kanstrup et al. (2018). However, seeing that assessing stress was not the main goal for both these studies, this discrepancy between findings is not necessarily surprising.

The lack of significant effect of wearables on perceived stress could be due to a lack of trust or embodiment in the measurements of the smartwatch. Embodiment in this case is when a person sees a smartwatch as an extension of themselves or their bodies (Nelson et al., 2024). It was noted from the theme alignment that twelve out of the fourteen participants saw their own experience as the standard upon which they base their experiences. This effect was well explained by the subtheme experience vs measurement, where participants felt differently about what the smartwatch had to say about them. Furthermore, it was apparent that most participants were unsure about the accuracy of the stress measurements. Approximately 62% of the mentions of measurement inaccuracy referred to the stress measurements and how participants thought they were incorrect.

Nevertheless, nine participants adjusted or changed their physical activity patterns or cognitive schemata, which is strange considering that his effect is not reflected in the results. The previously mentioned concept of embodiment could explain this phenomenon. It was observed from the interviews that participants did not relate entirely to the smartwatch. This was apparent in most participants (N = 12), who thought their personal experience was more trustworthy than the smartwatch measurements. A study by Nelson et al. (2024) concluded

that embodiment is essential to inhibiting and sustaining behaviour change. This lack of change could be attributed to the lack of embodiment experienced by the participants. This is, however, only theorised based on the qualitative interpretation of the interviews. When incorporating this in the context of perceived stress and health anxiety, a similar argument can be made. The lack of embodiment would cause a lack of effect on either of these measures. Therefore, future studies should include a measure of embodiment to account for this effect.

The qualitative analysis gave more personal insight into two participants who mentioned an increase in their perceived stress. However, these participants mentioned how their perceived stress decreased in other situations. When investigating one of these two participants in the mixed results section, it was found that despite the perceived stressincreasing experience, their overall stress score was lower when wearing the smartwatch, which suggests a stress-decreasing effect. This is a similar finding compared to a study by Smith et al. (2019), who found that integrating wearable technology in stress management interventions could effectively decrease perceived stress. Another participant who expressed being able to use the smartwatch to lower his perceived stress had an increased perceived stress score when wearing the smartwatch. It must, however, be noted that this participant mentioned increased awareness of his stress, which can cause increased stress perception.

Effect of use smartwatch on health anxiety

Our study study found no significant effect of smartwatch presence on health anxiety; a finding largely supported by the qualitative data. This aligns with a study by (Lebel et al., 2020) in who found that health anxiety rarely changes over a short period of time. It was, however, suggested in a study by Choudhury and Asan (2021) that this is possible in short periods of time highlighting a discrepancy in our results. It could be possible that the study period was too short to measure these changes.

The qualitative study of Conboy et al. (2018) found indications that m-health apps might affect health anxiety urging for additional research. This study found minor qualitative indications of a possible increase in health anxiety using wearable technology. Our study found a similar result but only in the context of others. Participants noted that it could negatively affect individuals who were already sensitive to such effects or were quick to worry. When participants considered the impact of wearables on the way they perceived their health, only positive comments were made. The health anxiety score for participant #11426 increased when wearing the smartwatch. However, the participant attributed this increase to recent lifestyle changes unrelated to the smartwatch, indicating that an increased awareness of health can explain this score increase. Conversely another participant had a significant decrease in their health anxiety score. This participant used the smartwatch to look for reassurance or a calming effect during health anxious moments, a reassurance-seeking behaviour described by Salkovskis et al. (2003) in their cognitive behavioural model. This model suggests that this can have an increasing and decreasing effect on health anxiety. The participant noted a potential decreasing effect but needed more time to experience it themselves. The scores did decrease indicating the potential health anxiety reducing effect of the smartwatch that warrants further investigation.

Choudhury and Asan (2021) proposed that wearable devices with health feedback could increase health anxiety when misinterpreted. Several participants expressed a similar idea in our qualitative interviews and could imagine how this could negatively affect others. However, when participants expressed personal accounts of not understanding measurements, no one expressed concern or distress. This shows that, at least in our sample, there is no support for this effect. Additionally, this effect was not mentioned or covered in the interviews of individuals who experienced an increase in their scores.

Additionally, a study by McWilliams, Cox, & Enns (2003) highlights the relevance of neuroticism when considering Health anxiety and stress. They found that individuals with higher levels of neuroticism are more likely to experience higher levels of stress and health anxiety. It could, therefore, mean that the current sample has, in general, low levels of neuroticism, which could explain why no significant effect on perceived stress or health anxiety was found. This would be an interesting addition to evaluate in future research and will be further discussed in the future research section.

Implications of findings

This study found no significant effects of smartwatches on perceived stress and health anxiety. This seems to suggest that no significant effect of perceived stress and health anxiety is expected through smartwatch use. However, the qualitative interviews did highlight some potential effects. Many participants expressed how they thought the overall impact of wearable technology in the context of health would be beneficial. Participants were motivated to improve their health through physical activity and lifestyle changes. Other participants expressed how they felt more aware of their health and considered how this could benefit others. The health-tracking features of the smartwatch were generally received as beneficial, and participants reflected on how this could be used at home and in health care for early disease detection. However, participants also highlighted that it is essential to consider how information is communicated to avoid confusion leading to a potential increase in stress and health anxiety.

Additionally, the smartwatch measurements were not all clear to the participants, leading to confusion among them. This should also be considered for future developments of wearable technology. This effect could be reduced by explaining measurements, which can be considered confusing.

One participant who expressed suffering from symptoms of health anxiety did mention how they could potentially see a decrease in their symptoms with prolonged use. They feel like the smartwatch could give comfort and confirmation when experiencing health anxiety symptoms; additionally, their scores on health anxiety already decreased when wearing the smartwatch. This knowledge can be applied in developing interventions aimed at reducing health anxiety, as our results suggest that the smartwatches' active feedback can have a calming effect.

Several participants expressed how their perception of stress had changed and how they could occasionally reduce their perceived stress. Participants could do this by checking real-time feedback and reviewing stressful situations in hindsight. This furthermore suggests a potential decreasing effect of perceived stress through smartwatch use. Overall, it seems that from the qualitative account, there is significant potential for wearables to decrease the effects of perceived stress. Future studies should explore this potential.

Overall, the study found no significant effect of smartwatch presence on perceived stress or health anxiety. However, through qualitative accounts, it seems that the participants saw the potential for a decreasing effect on both psychosocial constructs. There is much to be gained from using smartwatches and their potential effect on perceived stress and health anxiety. However, due care needs to be taken so as not to overestimate the potential adverse effects it can have. Therefore, organisations developing or using wearable technology should consider additional research into the effects of wearable technology. The section suggestion for further research will delve deeper into the potential future steps which can be taken.

Strengths and limitations

This study has some important strengths to consider. Firstly, this study used mixed methods within subject replicated counterbalanced AB design to examine the effects of smartwatch presence on perceived stress and health anxiety. To our knowledge, it is the first study that combines an experimental quantitative data collection phase supplemented with a qualitative interview to gain additional insights into the behaviours and experiences of the participants.

Furthermore, this study only included individuals with limited or no experience wearing and using a smartwatch, increasing ecological validity. Finally, this study measured participants' day-to-day experiences with limited interventions to ensure generalizability to a larger audience.

Finally, our study contained a relatively rich and varied sample for a bachelor's thesis. This sample included students, working professionals, and others ages 19 to 59.

However, there are also some significant limitations to the study that must be addressed. Firstly, it is important to note the limitations of the TIIM software. This software was used for the daily questionnaires. To start, TIIM had a timing function that was used to open the questionnaires for participants. This function did not work for all the starting groups, which resulted in not all questionnaires being opened at the same time. Additionally, the TIIM software was not able to produce the quantitative results with the module names used to specify which day the questionnaire was filled in. This led to some complications with the data analysis. An update to the TIIM software addressing these bugs would be beneficial for further research.

The reliability and validity of the questionnaires should also be questioned. Regardless of the acceptable Cronbach's alpha of the questionnaires, it is important to note that the translated versions have not officially been validated in Dutch. This lack of official translation and tested psychometric properties could mean that the questionnaires might not measure what they are supposed to measure. The Dutch interpretation of the questions can be significantly different from the English version and can, therefore, affect the outcome of the questionnaire.

Besides this, the two-week timeframe could be too small to measure significant changes in perceived stress and health anxiety. A study by Harris et al. (2023) evaluating the changes in PSS scores over time found that in shorter time periods, perceived stress is less likely to change. Additionally, a study evaluating the effect of m-health apps on anxiety found that an effect was most common after a few weeks of use (Lecomte et al., 2020). This suggests that a longitudinal study would be more fitting for this type of research to observe effects.

Finally, a different study design would have been better suited to answer the research questions. This study used a concurrent and triangulation mixed methods within subject replicated counterbalanced AB design. In this design, the quantitative and qualitative data are collected and analysed simultaneously, which means the quantitative data cannot be used to change or adapt the qualitative questions asked during the interview. A sequential design in which quantitative data would be analysed and used to form questions for the qualitative interview would have been better suited to gain advanced insight into potential effects on participants. This design can effectively explain and contextualise the observed quantitatively show an effect on perceived stress or health anxiety and ask more specific questions to explain the cause of the effects (Bishop et al., 2015). This would potentially lead to a clearer view of the potential effects and how and why they occur.

Suggestions for further research

Several study designs and directions should be considered to better adapt future research designs to explore the effects of smartwatches on perceived stress and health anxiety.

Firstly, it is important to consider a different study design. A sequential exploratory design would better explore the effects of smartwatch presence on perceived stress and health anxiety. In this design, the quantitative data is analysed before the qualitative interviews. With this design, findings from the quantitative data could be better explained by asking specific questions constructed based on the quantitative data during the qualitative interview. This method allows for a deeper exploration of possible results from the quantitative data collection (Bishop, 2015).

The research design would also be improved by making this study a longitudinal study. This way, changes in behaviour and cognitive schemata can become more apparent, and the effect can become more significant. A common trend in our findings was that all participants expressed that the study and smartwatch use was too short for them to truly adapt. This lack of embodiment would most likely need more time; therefore, a longitudinal study would be a better fit. Additionally, studies found that changes in perceived stress and health anxiety would only be present after a few weeks (Harris et al., 2023; Lecomte et al.,

2020). It would also aid the study in implementing a baseline of the measured variables. This would give additional comparison points to better estimate an effect.

Furthermore, it would be essential to work with an updated TIIM software for the questionnaires, as this would reduce some of the complications experienced in this study. It would also be recommended that only validated questionnaires be used to ensure validity and reliability. However, no validated Dutch questionnaires are available to our knowledge. This would mean that new validated questionnaires need to be constructed and validated.

Secondly, it would be recommended that the sample for the study be expanded. This study used a limited sample with a final 22 participants as part of the analysis. Increasing the sample would increase the reliability of the results. Additionally, it would be good to conduct a study in which participants have varied levels of neuroticism. Individuals with higher levels of neuroticism tend to be more susceptible to changes in their perceived stress and health anxiety. This would give a better understanding of how individuals with higher susceptibility to health anxiety and perceived stress interact with wearable devices and what effect this could have on this group. Comparing a group which experiences high levels of health anxiety or perceived stress to a control group that does not would give valuable insight into the effects of wearable devices on these groups.

By addressing these suggestions, future research can provide a more comprehensive understanding of the effects of wearable devices on perceived stress and health anxiety, particularly among individuals with varying levels of susceptibility.

Conclusion

This study aimed to explore the effects of smartwatch presence on perceived stress and health anxiety. The quantitative results of the study showed no significant effect of smartwatch presence. The qualitative results data showed that few participants experienced significant changes due to smartwatch use; this was supported by a lack of trust in the accuracy of the smartwatch among participants, hinting at a low level of embodiment among participants. Despite this, some participants did make some adjustments to their behaviour and perceptions of stress; however, these changes might have been insignificant, resulting in no representation in the data. Individual accounts of the qualitative data did highlight the potential for smartwatches to influence perceived stress and health anxiety. A more longitudinal study with a sequential design could be better suited to evaluate the effect of wearables on perceived stress and health anxiety. Additionally, a sample including individuals who are more susceptible to experiencing perceived stress and health anxiety could shed light on the potential effects on this group.

References

- Attig, C., & Franke, T. (2020). Abandonment of personal quantification: A review and empirical study investigating reasons for wearable activity tracking attrition. Computers in Human Behavior, 102, 223-237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.08.025
- Biggs, A., Brough, P., & Drummond, S. (2017). Lazarus and Folkman's psychological stress and coping theory. In The Handbook of Stress and Health: A Guide to Research and Practice (pp. 293–307). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118993811.ch21
- Bishop, F. L. (2015). Using mixed methods research designs in health psychology: An illustrated discussion from a pragmatist perspective. British Journal of Health Psychology, 20(1), 5–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjhp.12122</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>
- Buckingham, S. A., Morrissey, K., Williams, A. J., et al. (2020). The Physical Activity
 Wearables in the Police Force (PAW-Force) study: acceptability and impact. BMC
 Public Health, 20(1645). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09776-1</u>
- Carpenter, R. (2016). A review of instruments on cognitive appraisal of stress. Applied Nursing Research, 30(2), 271–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2015.07.002</u>
- Chalmers, T., Hickey, B. A., Newton, P., Lin, C. T., Sibbritt, D., McLachlan, C. S., Clifton-Bligh, R., Morley, J., & Lal, S. (2021). Stress Watch: The use of heart rate and heart rate variability to detect stress: A pilot study using smartwatch wearables. Sensors (Basel), 22(1), 151. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s22010151</u>
- Choudhury, A., & Asan, O. (2021). Impact of using wearable devices on psychological distress: Analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey. International Journal of Medical Informatics, 156, Article 104612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104612</u>
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404

- Conboy, E., Flood, C., & Power, A. (2018). Exploring health anxiety and dependence in healthy adult users on m-health apps and wearables. Cyberpsychology and Society: Current Perspectives (Chapter 3). Routledge.
- Dures, E., Rumsey, N., Morris, M., & Gleeson, K. (2010). Mixed methods in health psychology. Journal of Health Psychology, 16(2), 332–341. Doi 10.1177/1359105310377537.
- Epel, E. S., Crosswell, A. D., Mayer, S. E., Prather, A. A., Slavich, G. M., Puterman, E., & Mendes, W. B. (2018). More than a feeling: A unified view of stress measurement for population science. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, pp. 49, 146–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.03.001</u>
- Espiridion, E. D., Fuchs, A., & Oladunjoye, A. O. (2021). Illness Anxiety Disorder: A case report and brief review of the literature. Cureus, 13(1), e12897. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.12897</u>
- Etkin, J. (2016). The Hidden Cost of Personal Quantification. Journal of Consumer Research, 42(6), 967–984. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucv095</u>
- Fergus, T. (2013). Cyberchondria and Intolerance of Uncertainty: Examining When Individuals Experience Health Anxiety in Response to Internet Searches for Medical Information. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 16(10), 735–739.
- Fergus, T., & Dolan, S. (2014). Problematic Internet Use and Internet Searches for Medical Information: The Role of Health Anxiety. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 761–765.
- Ferguson, T., Olds, T., Curtis, R., Blake, H., Crozier, A. J., Dankiw, K., Dumuid, D., Kasai, D., O'Connor, E., Virgara, R., & Maher, C. (2022). Effectiveness of wearable activity trackers to increase physical activity and improve health: A systematic review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. The Lancet Digital Health, 4(8), e615-e626. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(22)00111-X
- Fetters, M. (2020). Performing fundamental steps of mixed methods data analysis. In *The Mixed Methods Research Workbook: Activities for Designing, Implementing, and Publishing Projects* (Vol. 0, pp. -). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781071909713

- Fink, G. (2017). Stress: Concepts, definition, and history. In The curated reference collection in neuroscience and biobehavioral psychology. Elsevier Science Ltd.
- Furer, P., Walker, J. R., & Stein, M. B. (2007). A cognitive-behavioral perspective. In Treating Health Anxiety and Fear of Death: A Practitioner's Guide (pp. 35-54). Springer.
- Geus, E. J. C. d., & Gevonden, M. J. (2024). Acquisition and analysis of ambulatory autonomic nervous system data. In M. R. Mehl, M. Eid, C. Wrzus, G. Harari, U. W. Ebner-Priemer, & T. R. Insel (Eds.), *Mobile Sensing in Psychology* (Chapter 23). The Guilford Press.
- Giardina, T., Modi, V., Parrish, D., & Singh, H. (2015). The patient portal and abnormal test results: An exploratory study of patient experiences. Patient Experience Journal, 2(1), 148–154. https://doi.org/10.35680/2372-0247.1055
- González Ramírez, M. L., García Vázquez, J. P., Rodríguez, M. D., Padilla-López, L. A., Galindo-Aldana, G. M., & Cuevas-González, D. (2023). Wearables for stress management: A scoping review. Healthcare, 11(17), 2369. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare11172369</u>
- Harris, K. M., Gaffey, A. E., Schwartz, J. E., Krantz, D. S., & Burg, M. M. (2023). The Perceived Stress Scale as a measure of stress: Decomposing score variance in longitudinal behavioral medicine studies. Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine, 57(10), 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kaad015
- Kamel Boulos, M. N., Brewer, A. C., Karimkhani, C., Buller, D. B., & Dellavalle, R. P. (2014). Mobile medical and health apps: State of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification. Online Journal of Public Health Informatics, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.5210/ojphi.v5i3.4814
- Kanstrup, A. M., Bertelsen, P., & Jensen, M. B. (2018). Contradictions in digital health engagement: An activity tracker's ambiguous influence on vulnerable young adults' engagement in own health. Digital Health, 4, 2055207618775192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2055207618775192</u>

- Kim, H. G., Cheon, E. J., Bai, D. S., Lee, Y. H., & Koo, B. H. (2018). Stress and heart rate variability: A meta-analysis and review of the literature. Psychiatry Investigation, 15(3), 235–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.30773/pi.2017.08.17</u>
- Klimek, A., Mannheim, I., Schouten, G., Wouters, E. J. M., & Peeters, M. W. H. (2023). Wearables measuring electrodermal activity to assess perceived stress in care: A scoping review. Acta Neuropsychiatrica. Advanced online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/neu.2023.19</u>
- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), 155–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012</u>
- van Kuppenveld, S., van Os-Medendorp, H., Tiemessen, N., & van Delden, J. (2020). Realtime access to electronic health records via a patient portal in a tertiary hospital: Is it harmful? A retrospective mixed methods observational study. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22(2), e13622. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/13622</u>
- Laricchia, F. (2024, January 10). Wearable technology Statistics & Facts. Statista. https://www.statista.com/topics/1556/wearable-technology/#topicOverview
- Lane, M., & Hursh, D. E. (2013). Single-case experimental designs. In G. J. Madden (Ed.), *APA handbook of behavior analysis: Vol. 1. Methods and principles* (pp. 107–126). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Lecomte, T., Potvin, S., Corbière, M., Guay, S., Samson, C., Cloutier, B., Francoeur, A., Pennou, A., & Khazaal, Y. (2020). Mobile apps for mental health issues: Meta-review of meta-analyses. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth, 8(5), e17458. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/17458</u>
- Lee, U.-H. (2012). Review of the psychometric evidence of the Perceived Stress Scale. Asian Nursing Research, 6(4), 121–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2012.08.004</u>
- Lebel, S., Mutsaers, B., Tomei, C., Leclair, C. S., Jones, G., Petricone-Westwood, D., Rutkowski, N., Ta, V., Trudel, G., Laflamme, S. Z., Lavigne, A. A., & Dinkel, A. (2020). Health anxiety and illness-related fears across diverse chronic illnesses: A systematic review on conceptualization, measurement, prevalence, course, and correlates. *PloS One*, *15*(7), e0234124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234124</u>

- Lim, C. Y., & In, J. (2021). Considerations for crossover design in clinical study. Korean Journal of Anesthesiology, 74(4), 293–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.4097/kja.21165</u>
- Lu, L., Zhang, J., Xie, Y., Gao, F., Xu, S., Wu, X., & Ye, Z. (2020). Wearable health devices in health care: Narrative systematic review. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, 8(11), e18907. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/18907</u>
- Lupton, D. (2013). Quantifying the body: Monitoring and measuring health in the age of mHealth technologies. Health Sociology Review, 22(2), 168–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.5172/hesr.2013.22.2.168</u>
- Mapi Research Trust. (2023, July). Perceived Stress Scale (10 items). Retrieved from <u>https://eprovide.mapi-trust.org/instruments/perceived-stress-scale-10-items</u>
- Montagna, M. J., Marksteiner, T., & Dickhäuser, O. (2021). The effect of a computerized growth-mindset intervention on teaching students' mindset and cognitive stress appraisal. Frontiers in Education, 6, 634684 https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.634684
- Myin-Germeys, I., & Kuppens, P. (Eds.). (2022). The open handbook of experience sampling methodology: A step-by-step guide to designing, conducting, and analysing ESM studies (2nd ed.). Center for Research on Experience Sampling and Ambulatory Methods Leuven.
- Nelson, E. C., Sools, A. M., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M. M. R., Verhagen, T., & Noordzij, M. L. (2020). Embodiment of wearable technology: Qualitative longitudinal study. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 8(11), e16973. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/16973</u>
- Nelson, E. C., Verhagen, T., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M. M. R., & Noordzij, M. L. (2024). When it is part of me, I can do it: Using embodied empowerment to predict adherence to wearable self-care technology. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 158, 108314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2024.108314</u>
- Newby, J. M., Hobbs, M. J., Mahoney, A. E. J., Wong, S. K., & Andrews, G. (2017). DSM-5 illness anxiety disorder and somatic symptom disorder: Comorbidity, correlates, and overlap with DSM-IV hypochondriasis. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, pp. 101, 31–37.

- Noyes, R., Carney, C. P., Hillis, S. L., Jones, L. E., & Langbehn, D. R. (2005). Prevalence and correlates of illness worry in the general population. Psychosomatics, 46(6), 529– 539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.psy.46.6.529</u>
- Pakhomov, S. V. S., Thuras, P. D., Finzel, R., Eppel, J., & Kotlyar, M. (2020). Using consumer-wearable technology for remote assessment of physiological response to stress in the naturalistic environment. PLOS ONE, 15(3), e0229942. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229942</u>
- Peacock, E. J., & Wong, P. T. P. (1990). The stress appraisal measure (SAM): A multidimensional approach to cognitive appraisal. Stress Medicine, 6(3), 227–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2460060308</u>
- Conboy, E., Flood, C., & Power, A. (2018). Exploring health anxiety and dependence in healthy adult users on m-health apps and wearables. Cyberpsychology and Society: Current Perspectives (Chapter 3). Routledge.
- Salkovskis, P. M., Rimes, K. A., Warwick, H. M. C., & Clark, D. M. (2002). The Health Anxiety Inventory: Development and validation of scales for the measurement of health anxiety and hypochondriasis. *Psychological Medicine*, 32(5), 843–853. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291702005822
- Salkovskis, P. M., Warwick, H. M., & Deale, A. C. (2003). Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment for Severe and Persistent Health Anxiety (Hypochondriasis). *Brief Treatment and Crisis Intervention*, 3(3), 353–368.
- Smith, E. N., Santoro, E., Moraveji, N., Susi, M., & Crum, A. J. (2020). Integrating wearables in stress management interventions: Promising evidence from a randomised trial. International Journal of Stress Management, 27(2), 172–182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000137</u>
- Te Poel, F., Hartmann, T., Baumgartner, S. E., & Tanis, M. (2017). A psychometric evaluation of the Dutch Short Health Anxiety Inventory in the general population. *Psychological assessment*, 29(2), 186–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000332</u>
- Toner, J. (2018). Exploring the dark-side of fitness trackers: Normalisation, objectification and the anaesthetisation of human experience. Performance Enhancement & Health, 6(2), 75–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peh.2018.06.001</u>

- Wiederhold, B. K. (2015). Behavioral health apps abundant, but evidence-based research nearly nonexistent. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 18(6), 309-310.
- Wright, A. G. C., & others. (2020). Daily stress and hassles. In K. L. Harkness & E. P. Hayden (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of Stress and Mental Health (pp. 1–21). Oxford Library of Psychology. Oxford Academic. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190681777.013.2

Appendix

Appendix 1: AI statement

"During the preparation of this work, I (and my fellow authors) used Chat-gpt to translate Dutch to English but corrected by the researchers, for assistance with some R-coding complications and for to spar for general ideas. After using this tool/service, we thoroughly reviewed and edited the content as needed, taking full responsibility for the final outcome."

"During the preparation of this work, I used Grammarly to correct spelling and grammar of the writing and for an additional plagiarism check. After using this tool/service, we thoroughly reviewed and edited the content as needed, taking full responsibility for the final outcome."

Appendix 2: PSS-10 questionnaire (Dutch)

	Nooit	Bijna	Soms	Regel-	Heel
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		nooit		matig	vaak
Hoe vaak bent u overstuur geweest					
door iets dat onverwacht gebeurde?					
Hoe vaak heeft u het gevoel gehad dat					
u niet in staat was de belangrijke					
dingen in uw leven onder controle te					
houden?					
Hoe vaak heeft u zich zenuwachtig en					
gespannen gevoeld?					
Hoe vaak heeft u zich zelfverzekerd					
gevoeld over uw vermogen om uw					
persoonlijke problemen aan te pakken?					
Hoe vaak heeft u het gevoel gehad dat					
de dingen u meezaten?					
Hoe vaak heeft u het gevoel gehad dat					
u niet opgewassen was tegen al de					
dingen die u moest doen?					
Hoe vaak bent u in staat geweest om					
irritaties in uw leven onder controle te					
houden?					
Hoe vaak heeft u het gevoel gehad dat					
u de dingen de baas bleef?					
Hoe vaak heeft u zich boos gemaakt					
om dingen die buiten uw controle om					
gebeurden?					
Hoe vaak heeft u het gevoel gehad dat					
de moeilijkheden zich zo hoog					
opstapelden dat u ze niet te boven kon					
komen?					

Appendix 3: SHAI-14 questionnaire (Dutch)

- 1. Ik maak me zorgen over mijn gezondheid
 - 0 Nooit
 - 1 Af en toe
 - 2 Vaak
 - 3 Meestal
- 2. Vergeleken met andere mensen van mijn leeftijd merk ik pijntjes en klachten op
 - 0 Minder dan de meeste andere mensen
 - 1 Net zoveel als de meeste andere mensen
 - 2 Meer dan de meeste andere mensen
 - 3 Altijd in mijn lichaam
- 3. Welke uitspraak beschrijft het beste uw bewustzijn van lichamelijke sensaties of veranderingen?
 - 0 Over het algemeen ben ik me niet bewust van lichamelijke sensaties of
 - veranderingen
 - 1 Soms bewust
 - 2 Vaak bewust
 - 3 Voortdurend bewust
- 4. Ik kan het denken aan ziekte weerstaan
 - 0 Zonder problemen
 - 1 Meestal
 - 2 Ik probeer gedachtes aan ziekte te weerstaan, maar ben er vaak niet toe in staat
 - 3 Gedachten aan ziekte zijn zo sterk dat ik niet eens meer probeer ze te weerstaan
- 5. Ik ben bang om een ernstige ziekte te hebben
 - 0 Helemaal niet
 - 1 Soms
 - 2 Vaak
 - 3 Altijd
- 6. Ik heb beelden (mentale afbeeldingen) van mezelf die ziek is
 - 0 Nooit
 - 1 Af en toe
 - 2 Vaak
 - 3 Voortdurend

- 7. Ik heb moeite om mijn gedachten af te houden van gedachten over mijn gezondheid 0 Nooit
 - 1 Soms
 - 2 Vaak
 - 3 Altijd Niets kan mijn gedachten afhouden van gedachten over mijn gezondheid
- 8. Als mijn arts me vertelt dat er niets mis is, ben ik
 - 0 Langdurig opgelucht
 - 1 Eerst opgelucht maar de zorgen keren soms later terug
 - 2 Eerst opgelucht maar de zorgen keren altijd later terug
 - 3 Niet opgelucht als mijn arts me vertelt dat er niets mis is
- 9. Als ik over een ziekte hoor, denk ik dat ik het zelf heb
 - 0 Nooit
 - 1 Soms
 - 2 Vaak
 - 3 Altijd
- 10. Als ik een lichamelijke sensatie of verandering opmerk, vraag ik me af wat het
 - betekent
 - 0 Zelden
 - 1 Vaak
 - 2 Altijd
 - 3 Als ik een lichamelijke sensatie of verandering heb, moet ik weten wat het betekent
- 11. Ik voel meestal dat mijn risico op het ontwikkelen van een ernstige ziekte
 - 0 Heel laag is
 - 1 Tamelijk laag is
 - 2 Gemiddeld is
 - 3 Hoog is
- 12. Ik denk dat ik een ernstige ziekte heb
 - 0 Nooit
 - 1 Soms
 - 2 Vaak
 - 3 Meestal
- 13. Als ik een onverklaarde lichamelijke sensatie opmerk, vind ik het
 - 0 Niet moeilijk om aan andere dingen te denken
 - 1 Soms moeilijk om aan andere dingen te denken

- 2 Vaak moeilijk om aan andere dingen te denken
- 3 Altijd moeilijk om aan andere dingen te denken
- 14. Mijn familie of vrienden zouden zeggen dat ik
 - 0 Me niet genoeg zorgen maak over mijn gezondheid
 - 1 Een normale houding heb ten opzichte van mijn gezondheid
 - 2 Me te veel zorgen maak over mijn gezondheid
 - 3 Een hypochonder (iemand die zich veel zorgen maakt om zijn of haar gezondheid) ben

Appendix 4: Qualitative Interview Overview

Semi-structured interview (Dutch)

Vooraf: Bedankt dat je mee wil werken aan dit interview. Het doel van dit interview is om diepere inzichten te krijgen in jouw ervaringen van deelname aan onze studie. Dit interview zal waarschijnlijk een half uurtje duren. Er worden geluidsopnamen gemaakt van dit interview die wij gaan gebruiken voor transcriberen en coderen voor de analyse. Ga je akkoord met deelname aan en het opnemen van dit interview?

- Hoe ervaarde je het dragen van een smartwatch?
 - Hoe ervaarde je het gebruik van de smartwatch? Zou je er bijvoorbeeld zelf een gaan kopen?
- Merkte je een verandering in je gedrag in de eerste paar dagen?
 - Zo ja: Kan je daar een voorbeeld van geven?
 - Zo nee: Kan je omschrijven hoe je met de smartwatch omging in de eerste paar dagen?
 - Hoe heb je deze verandering(en) ervaren?
 - Zijn er dingen die je sinds het dragen van de smartwatch anders bent gaan doen?
- Hoe ervaarde je het krijgen van feedback van de smartwatch?
 - [Stress feedback niet genoemd]: Hoe ervaarde je het krijgen stress feedback?
 - [Stress Appraisals] Heb je het gevoel dat je je stress anders bent gaan inschatten sinds het dragen van de smartwatch?
 - Zo ja/nee, kan je daar wat meer over vertellen?

- [Stress Appraisals] Heb je het gevoel dat je meer vertrouwen hebt gekregen dat je verwachte dagelijkse stressoren beter aankan? (Voorbeelden dagelijkse stressoren: deadlines, haast hebben, belangrijke afspraak of andere verplichtingen).
 - Zo ja/nee, kan je daar wat meer over vertellen?
- [Health Anxiety] Hoe kijk je naar je eigen gezondheid sinds het dragen van de smartwatch?
- [Health Anxiety] Wat vond je van de smartwatch zijn metingen (hartslag, HRV, respiration, OX, slaap etc.) wat betreft gezondheid?
 - Vraag door over metingen die de deelnemer niet benoemd of niet goed kent/vaag vindt.
- [Health Anxiety] Ben je je meer zorgen gaan maken over je gezondheid sinds het dragen van de smartwatch?
- Zo ja: kan je vertellen hoe?
- [Health Anxiety] Hoe voel jij je/hoe denk jij over het toenemende gebruik van smartwatches om gezondheid in de gaten te houden?
- Zijn er volgens jou voor en na delen van het gebruik van smartwatches voor gezondheid?
- [Eind vraag] Heb je nog ervaringen gehad tijdens jouw deelname die wij tot nu toe niet hebben besproken maar die je wel zou willen delen?

Achteraf: Bedankt voor je deelname aan dit interview en onze studie. Als je het leuk vindt kan ik je een rapport sturen met jouw persoonlijke resultaten en een verslag van de gehele studie.

Semi-structured interview (English)

Before:

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. The aim of this interview is to gain deeper insights into your experiences participating in our study. This interview will likely take about half an hour. Audio recordings of this interview will be made, which we will use for transcribing and coding for analysis. Do you agree to participate in and have this interview recorded?

• How did you experience wearing a smartwatch?

- How did you experience using the smartwatch? For example, would you consider buying one yourself?
- Did you notice a change in your behavior in the first few days?
 - If yes: Can you give an example of that?
 - If no: Can you describe how you handled the smartwatch in the first few days?
 - How did you experience these changes?
 - Are there things you have started doing differently since wearing the smartwatch?
- How did you experience receiving feedback from the smartwatch?
 - [Stress feedback not mentioned]: How did you experience receiving stress feedback?
 - [Stress Appraisals] Do you feel that you have started to assess your stress differently since wearing the smartwatch?
 - If yes/no, can you elaborate on that?
- [Stress Appraisals] Do you feel that you have gained more confidence in your ability to handle your expected daily stressors better? (Examples of daily stressors: deadlines, being in a hurry, important appointments, or other obligations).
 - If yes/no, can you elaborate on that?
- [Health Anxiety] How do you view your own health since wearing the smartwatch?
 - What did you think of the smartwatch's measurements (heart rate, HRV, respiration, OX, sleep, etc.) regarding health?
 - Follow up on measurements that the participant did not mention or found unclear/vague.
- [Health Anxiety] Have you become more worried about your health since wearing the smartwatch?
 - If yes: Can you explain how?

- [Health Anxiety] How do you feel/think about the increasing use of smartwatches to monitor health?
 - Do you see any pros and cons of using smartwatches for health?
- [Final question] Have you had any experiences during your participation that we have not discussed yet but that you would like to share?

After:

Thank you for participating in this interview and our study. If you're interested, I can send you a report with your personal results and a summary of the entire study.

Appendix 5: Supplementary methods

Appendix 5.1: participant instructions

To start participation in any starting group of the quantitative data collection, the participants were instructed to install the TIIM app and fill in the participation code they received from the researchers. After being added to the correct intervention, participants could fill out the informed consent form and provide their demographic information (Age, gender, and occupational status). Furthermore, participants were instructed to turn on notifications for the TIIM application to receive notifications. Participants were instructed to do this before their participation on day 1. On day 0, the participant group who received a smartwatch were personally visited by the researcher to get a short demonstration on how to operate the smartwatch. Participants receiving a smartwatch in their second week received the same in-person instruction.

Appendix 5.2: Linear mixed-effects models

The linear mixed-effects model for the effect of smartwatch presence on weekly average perceived stress is specified as:

 $avg_PSS10_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \times week1_present_j + \beta_2 \times smartwatch_present_i + participant_i + e_i e_i \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ participant_i ~ N(0, σ^2)

avg_PSS10_i represents the weekly average perceived stress score for participant i, β_0 represents the fixed intercept, participant_i represents the random effect of individual differences in avg_PSS-10 scores. β_1 is the fixed effect coefficient for the presence of a smartwatch in week 1 (week1_present_i), a dichotomous variable coded as 1 if the smartwatch was worn in week 1 and 0 if otherwise. Furthermore, β_2 represents the fixed effect coefficient

of smartwatch presence (smartwatch_present_i) and is a dichotomous variable indicating whether participant i had a smartwatch present with (1 if yes, 0 if no).

The linear mixed-effects model for the effect of smartwatch presence on Health Anxiety is specified as:

 $\begin{array}{l} shai_score_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} \times week1_present_{j} + \beta_{2} \times smartwatch_present_{i} + participant_{i} + e_{i} \\ e_{i} \sim N\left(0, \, \sigma^{2}\right) \\ participant_{i} \sim N\left(0, \, \sigma^{2}\right) \end{array}$

Where shai_score_i represents the health anxiety score for participant i. β_0 represents the fixed intercept, participant_i represents the random effect of individual differences in Shai_score. β_1 is the fixed effect coefficient for the presence of a smartwatch in week 1 (week1_present_i), a dichotomous variable coded as 1 if the smartwatch was worn in week 1 and 0 if otherwise. Furthermore, β_2 represents the fixed effect coefficient of smartwatch presence (smartwatch_present_i) and is a dichotomous variable indicating whether participant *i* had a smartwatch present (1 if yes, 0 if no).

Appendix 6: R-code for data analysis

library(tidyverse)

dataframes inladen

day_data <- readRDS("df_day_data_analysis_2.rds")</pre>

week_data <- readRDS("df_week_data_analysis_2.rds")</pre>

PSS-10

Calculate average PSS-10 score per week per participant

week_avg <- day_data %>%

filter(!is.na(PSS10)) %>% # Remove rows with missing PSS-10 scores

mutate(suffix = ifelse(suffix <= 6, 0, 1)) %>% # Assign week 1 for days 0-6 and week 2 for days 7-13

group_by(ID.Number, suffix) %>%

summarise(avg_PSS10 = mean(PSS10, na.rm = TRUE), .groups = 'drop')

Merge the weekly average PSS-10 scores with week_data
week data <- week data %>%

full_join(week_avg, by = c("ID.Number", "suffix"))

```
week_data$smartwatch_present[week_data$ID.Number == "11439" &
is.na(week_data$smartwatch_present)] <- 1</pre>
```

```
week_data$smartwatch_present[week_data$ID.Number == "8925" &
is.na(week_data$smartwatch_present)] <- 0</pre>
```

linear mixed model PSS10

library(ImerTest)

library(modelr)

week_data %>%

summary()

week_data %>%

```
Imer(avg_PSS10 ~ smartwatch_present + (1 | ID.Number) + week1_present, data = .) %>%
summary()
```

specifieke dataset SHAI

```
week_data_SHAI <- week_data[-c(19,20,43,44), ]</pre>
```

linear mixed model SHAI

week_data_SHAI %>%

```
Imer(SHAI ~ smartwatch_present + (1|ID.Number) + week1_present, data = .) %>%
```

summary()

```
modelSHAI <- week_data_SHAI %>%
Imer(SHAI ~ smartwatch_present + (1|ID.Number) + week1_present, data = .)
```

week_data %>%
 add_predictions(modelSHAI) %>%

```
add_residuals(modelSHAI) %>%
ggplot(aes(x = pred, y = resid)) +
geom_point()
```

```
week_data %>%
```

ggplot(aes(x = factor(smartwatch_present), y = SHAI)) +

geom_boxplot() +

```
labs(x = "Smartwatch_present", y = "SHAI-14")
```

Load necessary library

library(dplyr)

Create the plot with facets for each participant and additional customizations

```
ggplot(week_data, aes(x = smartwatch_present, y = avg_PSS10, group = ID.Number)) +
```

```
geom_point(aes(color = factor(ID.Number))) +
```

geom_smooth(method = "Im", se = FALSE, color = "blue") +

facet_wrap(~ ID.Number, ncol = 5) +

labs(title = "PSS10 Scores by Smartwatch Presence",

```
x = "Smartwatch Present",
```

```
y = "avg_PSS10",
```

```
color = "Participant ID") +
```

theme_minimal() +

theme(legend.position = "none") # Hides the legend for Participant ID

```
geom_smooth() using formula = 'y ~ x'
```

SHAI

ggplot(week_data_SHAI, aes(x = smartwatch_present, y = SHAI, group = ID.Number)) +
geom_point(aes(color = factor(ID.Number))) +
geom_smooth(method = "Im", se = FALSE, color = "blue") +
facet_wrap(~ ID.Number, ncol = 5) +
labs(title = "SHAI Scores by Smartwatch Presence",

y = "SHAI",

```
color = "Participant ID") +
```

theme_minimal() +

theme(legend.position = "none") # Hides the legend for Participant ID

geom_smooth() using formula = 'y ~ x'

code name	comment	Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam	Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht activiteiten	Beleving vs. Meting	💙 accuraatheid metingen	Afweging impact gebruik
wel aanpassing	heeft een deelnemer zich aangepast tijdens of na het drager	1 Aanpassingen						
geen aanpassing	deelnemer heeft geen aanpassingen gedaan tijdens het drag	e Aanpassingen						
Inaccuraat metingen	Deelnemer dacht dat de meting van de smartwatch niet acc	ur Afweging impact gebruik	Accuraatheid metingen	Beleving vs. Meting	Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam	Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen
twijfel accuraatheid metingen	de deelnemer twijfelt aan de accuraatheid van de metingen	Accuraathe id metingen	Afweging impact gebruik					
accuraat metingen	de deelnemer denkt dat de metingen accuraat zijn	Accuraathe id metingen	Afweging impact gebruik	Beleving vs. Meting	Toetse n ervaringen	Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam	Inzicht activiteiten
negatief over feedback	De deelnemer had negatieve ervaring met de meldingen van	d Accuraathe id metingen	Afweging impact gebruik	Inzicht lichaam	Aanpassingen	Beleving vs. Meting	Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht activiteiten
positief over feedback	De deelnemer had positieve ervaringen met de meldingen va	an Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht lichaam	Aanpassingen	Accuraatheid metingen	Afweging impact gebruik
omstandigheden	dit omvat alle omstandighe den van de deelnemer en de mer	ning van de deelnemer over het onc	derzo ek					
lichamelijke twijfel	de deelnemer twijfelt aan hun eigen herkenning van lichame	lij Aanpassingen	Toetsen ervaringen	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht lichaam			
kritiek holistisch positief	deelnemer benoemt voordelen van smartwatch die niet te r	ni Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht activiteiten	Aanpassingen	Toetse n ervaringen	Inzicht lichaam	Afweging impact gebruik	
kritiek holistisch negatief	deelnemer benoemt nadelen van smartwatch die niet te ma	kiAccuraatheid metingen	Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen	Afweging impact gebruik	Beleving vs. Meting	Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam
kritiek fysiek positief	deelnemer benoemt voordelen van smartwatch die te make	n Afweging impact gebruik	Beleving vs. Meting					
kritiek fysiek negatief	deelnemer benoemt nadelen van smartwatch die te maken	he Beleving vs. Meting	Afweging impact gebruik					
interessante functies	de functies die de deelnemer interessant vond	Inzicht lichaam	Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen				
oninteressante functies	de functies die de deelnemer niet interessant vond	Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen	Beleving vs. Meting	Afweging impact gebruik	Inzicht lichaam	Accuraatheid metingen	Aanpassingen
intent voor gebruik	waarom de deelnemer de smartwatch of functie gebruikt	Inzicht lichaam	Toetsen ervaringen	Aanpassingen	Inzicht activiteiten	Afweging impact gebruik		
verhoogde eisen stressoren		Aanpassingen	Beleving vs. Meting	Accuraatheid metingen	Inzicht lichaam	Toetsen ervaringen		
verlaagde eisen stressoren		Aanpassingen	Afweging impact gebruik	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen	Accuraatheid metingen	
onverander de eisen stressoren		Toetsen ervaringen	Beleving vs. Meting	Accuraatheid metingen	Aanpassingen	Inzicht activiteiten		
verhoogde capaciteiten		Aanpassingen	Afweging impact gebruik	Inzicht lichaam	Beleving vs. Meting	Toetsen ervaringen		
verlaagde capa citeiten		Beleving vs. Meting	Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam	Toetse n ervaringen	Afweging impact gebruik		
onverander de capaciteiten		Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam	Beleving vs. Meting	Toetse n ervaringen	Accuraatheid metingen		
		Afweging impact gebruik	Inzicht activiteiten	Inzicht lichaam				
tegen gebruik smartwatch gezondhei		Afweging impact gebruik	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht activiteiten	Inzicht lichaam			
verlaagde health anxiety		Aanpassingen	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht lichaam	Inzicht activiteite n	Toetsen ervaringen	Accuraatheid metingen	Afweging impact gebruik
verhoogde health anxiety		Aanpassingen	Afweging impact gebruik	Inzicht lichaam	Toetse n ervaringen	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht activiteiten	Accuraatheid metingen
onveranderde health anxiety		Aanpassingen						
to egenome n st ress perceptie		Aanpassingen	Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht lichaam	Inzicht activiteite n	Beleving vs. Meting	Accuraatheid metingen	Afweging impact gebruik
onverander de stress perceptie		Beleving vs. Meting	Aanpassingen	Inzicht lichaam	Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht activiteiten		
verlaagde stress pe rceptie		Inzicht lichaam	Afweging impact gebruik	Toetsen ervaringen	Aanpassingen	Beleving vs. Meting		
Overig	Dit is voor stukjes die niet relevant zijn							
neutraal over feedback		Inzicht activiteiten	Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht lichaam				
kritiek smartwatch neutraal		Afweging impact gebruik						
bevestiging ervaring		Aanpassingen	Inzicht activiteiten	Inzicht lichaam	Toetse n ervaringen	Beleving vs. Meting	Accuraatheid metingen	Afweging impact gebruik
omgang smartwatch		Inzicht lichaam	Aanpassingen	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht activiteite n	Toetsen ervaringen		
verhoogd inzicht lichamelijke signale		Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht lichaam	Inzicht activiteiten	Beleving vs. Meting	Accuraatheid metingen	Afweging impact gebruik	Aanpassingen
onwetendheid metingen		Inzicht lichaam						
verklaren meting		Accuraathe id metingen	Beleving vs. Meting	Inzicht lichaam	Toetsen ervaringen			
beleving vs meting		Beleving vs. Meting	Aanpassingen	Accuraatheid metingen	Toetsen ervaringen	Inzicht lichaam	Afweging impact gebruik	
		Annonecination	Toetsen ervaringen	Releving vs Meting				

Appendix 7: Thematic analysis codebook

Appendix 8: Expanded theme descriptions

Appendix 8.1: Physiological Insight

The sub-theme of Physiological insight is "Insights into the bodily reactions within daily routines". Participants used the smartwatch to gain insight into their bodies and how they responded in certain situations. They were curious about how their daily routine would be compared to others or what the readings of the smartwatch would be during or after exercise. A specific interest in stress (12/14), sleep (8/14), and heart rate (13/14) was common among the participants. This physiological insight was new for participants, and nine noted how they considered this information could be used to improve their lives.

Some participants expressed that not all insights were clear in what they meant. Readings like HRV, Ox and respiration were rarely understood by participants and caused confusion about what they meant or how it was relevant to them. Other participants were confused by what the numerical representation of stress meant or what it meant to be in higher stress levels (4/14). One participant responded as follows:

"The smartwatch, of course, indicates a stress level as a number, but yeah, what that number exactly means, that's still vague for me. So, if I had a certain stress level, I didn't necessarily know if it was high or low." (Participant #11414)

This newfound insight shows how participants get accustomed to the smartwatch's functionality and how real-time data can give them valuable information about their physiological reactions. However, participants also expressed confusion about what the numbers mean or what they say about them. This shows how using the device can give valuable insights but can also cause confusion about its meaning.

Appendix 8.2: Accuracy of Measurement

The sub-theme Accuracy of Measurements is defined as "The extent to which users trust the accuracy of the smartwatch's measurements." This sub-theme examines all opinions from participants regarding their perceived accuracy of the smartwatch's data. Almost all participants had something to say about their perceived accuracy of the measurements (13/14). Most participants had differing opinions about the measurements, trusting some and doubting others. Overall, doubts about the accuracy were expressed most often (n = 30 quotations) and were mentioned in eleven interviews.

Except for one, all doubts regarding measurements were related to stress. Participants doubted the accuracy as they did not align with their experience. This doubt of alignment with their personal experiences caused doubt in the accuracy of the measurements. One participant expressed this as follows:

"Sometimes I found the stress levels quite strange because it didn't feel like I was stressed, but the device indicated that my stress was high." (Participant #11441)

Overall, all participants considered some measurements accurate (n = 27). Specific measures mentioned were heart rate, which was most often expressed as accurate (n = 9), accompanied by stress (n = 5), sleep (n = 2) and respiration (n = 2). None of the participants expressed why specifically they thought heart rate, sleep or respiration were accurate.

Ten out of the fourteen participants mentioned how they thought the measurements were inaccurate in some way (n = 21). Stress was often mentioned when talking about inaccuracies (n = 13). Similar to the doubts about the accuracy, participant thought the measurements were inaccurate because they did not align with their personal experience. As a result, some participants did not see this feedback as relevant. One participant explained his thoughts about the stress feedback:

"I didn't really see it as structural feedback, or anything like that. Or as accurate feedback. For example, my stress levels were just through the roof every day, while it was just because I was exercising every day. So yeah, I thought, well, for me it didn't seem right, so yeah, then you don't do much with feedback." (Participant #11440)

Overall, opinions about the accuracy of the measurements vary between and within participants. The stress measurements are clearly the most discussed, with a stronger doubt than trust in their accuracy. Discrepancies between personal experiences and measurements cause doubt of the perceived inaccuracy, showing how this is an important factor for trusting in feedback.

Appendix 8.3: Considerations Impact of Use

The sub-theme Considerations Impacts of Use is defined as the User's beliefs regarding the impact of smartwatches on individual and societal levels. Many participants (11/14) expressed positive experiences regarding the smartwatch use and design. Six participants had some critiques of the smartwatch; they had experienced skin irritation from the wristband or had trouble with the controls and screen. All participants (14/14) had some positives about the personal impact of the smartwatch. They felt they gained valuable insights into their activities and health, felt comforted by measurements, and were incentivised to perform more physical activity. Participants were able to review these positive experiences and imagine how they could have a positive impact on a societal level, with one participant saying:

"Yeah, I actually think it's a good tool. Besides myself, there are obviously more people who sometimes need to get off their lazy butt (....) if you do have that confirmation after your activity of 'wow, I did it like this and that', then that challenges you to do better next time. Especially if, for example, you go running, well, then you can eventually see your pace in the app. And when you see that, after two times, my pace has increased, that of course motivates you enormously to go running again next time and do even better." (Participant #11426)

However, some downsides to smartwatch use were also mentioned. Critiques included the high price of the device, how it was distracting, and some privacy concerns were mentioned. However, the most prominent critique was expressed by seven participants who mentioned how people could become obsessed with using the smartwatch. They thought that people could rely too much on their smartwatches and that individuals could become obsessed with their data. One participant explained it as follows:

"And, I think for others, but for other people, it can actually go in the wrong direction. And then I'm thinking of someone who has a strong need for control, you know, that they might get too caught up in it. I personally believe that that's never good." (Participant #11441)

This sub-theme shows the difference between participants' opinions on the use of smartwatches on the personal and societal levels. In general, participants were positive about their personal use of the smartwatch. They experienced various positive effects and reflected how their personal experience could have a similar positive effect on others. However, participants are also aware of the possible negatives of smartwatch use. By far, the largest critique on the use of smartwatches was the possibility of obsession; participants believe others could become obsessed with the feedback and data of the smartwatch.